
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: , Democratic Services (01254) 380136 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 11 January 2022 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Committee 
 
Wednesday, 19 January 2022 at 3.00 pm, 
Ballroom, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Eamonn Higgins 
Vice-Chair:  Councillor Dave Parkins 
 
Councillors Judith Addison, Kate Walsh, Terry Hurn, June Harrison, Melissa Fisher, Kath Pratt, 
Susan Hayes, Sajid Mahmood, Mohammad Ayub, Diane Fielding and Caroline Montague 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

2.   Minutes of the Last Meeting  (Pages 3 - 4) 
 
To submit the Minutes of the last meeting of the Planning Committee held on 30th 
November 2021 for approval as a correct record. 
 
Recommended - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record. 
 

3.   Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination  
(Pages 5 - 66) 
 
3A. 11/21/0622 – Major:  Change of use of land to burial ground with associated 

pavilion, internal roads, parking and associated infrastructure. 
 
NOTE: THIS APPLICATION HAS NOW BEEN WITHDRAWN BY THE APPLICANT 
AND WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED AT THIS MEETING. 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2021-2022 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 
Full planning application to change of use of land south of Blackburn Road, 
Oswaldtwistle to a burial ground with associated pavilion, internal roads, parking and 
associated infrastructure. 
 
Recommendation: That planning permission be REFUSED for the reasons 

set out in the report.  (SEE NOTE ABOVE) 
 
3B. 11/21/0584 – Household: Extension to existing raised platform to rear of 

dwelling and associated boundary treatment 
 
Householder application for an extension to existing raised platform to rear of dwelling 
and associated boundary treatment at 7 Hazel Grove, Oswaldtwistle, BB1 3NB 
 
Recommendations: (1) That the application be GRANTED subject to the 

conditions set out in the report. 
 

(2) That authority be delegated to the Chief Planning 
and Transportation Officer to determine the final 
wording of planning conditions. 

 

 
 



 

 
1 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Tuesday, 30th November, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Eamonn Higgins (in the Chair), Councillors Judith Addison, 

Diane Fielding, Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, Susan Hayes, Terry Hurn, 
Sajid Mahmood, Caroline Montague, Dave Parkins (Vice Chair), Kath Pratt 
and Kate Walsh 
 

Apologies: Councillor Mohammad Ayub 

  

 
185 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Mohammad Ayub. 
 
Julian Joinson, Member Services Manager, declared an interest in agenda Item 3, 
as a season ticket holder at Accrington Stanley Football Club, but as an officer of 
the Council would take no part in the Committee’s decision. 
 

186 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The minutes of the last Planning Committee held on the 5th October 2021 were 
submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved - That the minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

187 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 
The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report and update sheet setting 
out recommended action on the following application: 
 
11/21/0474 - Major Full: Erection of 1no building (D2) to provide changing area, physio 
area, manager office, guest lounge meeting area turnstile and WC following demolition of 
existing building - Crown Ground Livingstone Road Accrington BB5 5BX. 
 
Note: 
 

1. LK, a local resident, spoke against the application. 
 
Resolved (1) That planning permission is GRANTED in respect of 

application 11/21/0474, subject to the planning 
conditions recommended in the report and subject 
to an additional condition that the colour of the 
composite flat panel cladding to first floor of the 
south west elevation be entirely in goosewing grey, 
in the interests of residential amenity in accordance 
with the provisions of Core Strategy Policy Env7 and 
Development Management Development Plan 
Document Policy DM29. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
(2) That delegated powers be granted to the Chief 

Planning and Transportation Officer to finalise the 
wording of the conditions and informatives, prior to 
the notice being issued. 

 
188 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local 

Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from 
the meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted, or the nature of the proceedings, that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
189 The Gypsy and Traveller Site at Back Lane, Baxenden, Accrington 

 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 5 – 
In respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal 
proceedings) 
 
A report containing exempt information was considered by the Committee. 
 
Resolved - That of the two options presented in the report (a 

and b), members voted unanimously to support 
Option b. 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 4



1 
 

Report to:   Planning Committee 

 

Application Number: 11/21/0622 

 

Full Application:  Major:  Change of use of land to burial ground with 

associated pavilion, internal roads, parking and 

associated infrastructure.   

 

Address: Land south of Blackburn Road, Oswaldtwistle 

 

Determination by:   16th February 2022 

 

Applicant:   Issa Foundation 

 

Agent:     Emily Robinson, Atticus Planning 

 

Human Rights 

 

The relevant provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the European Convention on 

Human Rights have been taken into account in the preparation of this report, particularly the 

implications arising from the following rights: -  

 

Article 8  

 

The right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence.  

 

Article 1 of Protocol 1  

 

The right of peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property. 

 

 

Application site and description of proposed development 

 

Planning permission is sought for the development of a cemetery and associated 

infrastructure on 34ha of agricultural land south of Blackburn Road at West End, 

Oswaldtwistle.  The site is bounded by Blackburn Road, West End Business Park and 

residential development to the north, the M65 to the west, West End Primary School and 

residential development to the east and Knuzden Hall / Coach House and countryside to the 

south.  The site slopes down towards Blackburn Road from higher ground to the south and is 

located on the south side of a sweeping valley landform.  Fig 1 illustrates the location and 

general layout of the proposed development. 

 

There are two public rights of way that cross the site, 11-5-FP3 that connects Blackburn 

Road with Stanhill Road through Knuzden Hall and 11-5-FP 20, that also runs north-south 

and connects Blackburn Road with Stanhill Road, through the centre of the site.  Footpath 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



2 
 

11-5-FP 23 immediately abuts the eastern edge of the site at Stanhill and West End.  The 

site slopes down towards its northern boundary along Blackburn Road.   

 

 
Fig 1. Plan illustrating the location and layout of the proposed cemetery and associated 

infrastructure.  The extent of the site is shown in green.  Extract from submitted 

Master Site Plan by Archi-structure dated Oct 2021.   

 

Knuzden Hall and the associated Knuzden Hall Farmhouse are both Grade II Listed 

Buildings that lie immediately to the south of the proposed development.  Stanhill 

Conservation Area is in close proximity to the south-east corner of the site, within which the 

listed Stanhill House is also located.  A number of trees and groups of trees within the site 

are subject to protection by Tree Preservation Orders.   

 

The proposed development comprises a number of elements: 

 

i. Formation of Burial plots (Muslim cemetery); 

 

The proposed cemetery would provide for approximately 35,000 burial plots.  The 

submitted Design and Access Statement advises that the brief was to design the 

site to accommodate at least 100 years of burials at expected rates of 175 to 350 

per annum1.  The submitted Planning Statement advises that the proposed 

development would serve the Muslim community for between 50 and 100 years2, 

with a maximum of four services on any one day.  It is anticipated by the applicant 

that the development would serve the North West region. 

 

                                                           
1
 Page 12 of Design and Access Statement.  At a rate of 175 burials per year, the cemetery would 

provide plots for 200 years.   
2
 Page 6 of Planning Statement.   

Page 6



3 
 

As illustrated by Fig 1, the Burial plots are designed following a grid pattern based 

on 90m squares (Burial Tiles), with 9 Burial Tiles in each burial Block.  The roads 

and building is designed to face Qibla which is east south east.   

 

ii. Construction of Administration Building; 

 

The administration building is located in the centre of the site.  It is a single storey 

building with a gross floor area of 173m2.  It includes an admin room, meeting 

room and family room.  The building would be constructed using natural stone with 

large glazed windows and would incorporate a flat green roof.   

 

iii. Construction of Funeral Parlour (Ghusal area – washing the body); 

 

The Funeral Parlour / body wash area occupies 145m2 and is connected to the 

admin building by a covered walkway and is also connected to the Prayer building 

by a walkway link.  It is a flat roofed building constructed from natural stone with 

vertical windows.   

 

iv. Construction of Prayer Pavilions comprising of Prayer Halls, Condolence 

Rooms & Ablutions; 

 

The Prayer Halls are proposed to be flat roofed buildings constructed using 

natural stone with tall windows and more decorative features on the south east 

elevations.  The Gents Hall has a height of 5.7m whilst the two halls on either side 

of the walkway have a height of 4.5m.  These buildings (ii, iii and iv) are 

considered to be in use class F1(f), learning and non-residential institution (public 

worship).   

 

The buildings in this area (ii, III, and iv) are connected and have a total floorspace 

of 1,255m2.  The applicant estimates that the number of attendees at most 

services will be between 100 and 150 people, with larger services having up to 

400 attendees.  It is anticipated there will be between 10 and 15 staff on site at 

any one time.   

 

The applicant advises that outside the burial process, visitors may attend the 

cemetery, in particular during religious events such as Eid’s and the holy month of 

Fasting (Ramadan).   

 

v. Construction Works Operational, Maintenance, Caretaker accommodation & 

Catering kitchen; 

 

A two storey building with a mono-pitched roof located next to the equipment store 

and soil grading compound in the north west corner of the site adjacent to the 

boundary with M65.  The proposed building would be constructed from natural 

stone at ground floor level with timber cladding above and a metal clad roof.   

 

Page 7



4 
 

vi. Construction of Soil Grading Compound and Machine Storage. 

 

The soil grading compound comprises three storage bays constructed from 

concrete that will be used to store soils.  An equipment store with three entrance 

bays, designed using natural stone and timber cladding to match the adjacent staff 

compound, is also proposed.   

 

vii. Provision of 665 car parking spaces located in the main parking areas and 

throughout the internal road network. 

 

Three rows of car-parking spaces are proposed along the northern boundary of 

the site immediately south of Blackburn Road.  Although the Design and Access 

Statement and Planning Statement refer to 665 and 663 spaces respectively, the 

submitted Master Site Plan illustrates 752 car-parking spaces, including disabled 

spaces, along the northern boundary of the site.  There are additional parking 

spaces illustrated in proximity to the Burial blocks / tiles.  The rows of car parking 

spaces are served by two stretches of internal road, each measuring 

approximately 750m in length, running parallel to Blackburn Road.  The parking is 

proposed to be lit.   

 

viii. Extensive Landscaped Grounds with internal paths & roadways throughout 

the site.   

 

Access to the Burial plots is proposed via a grid patterned network of roads and 

roundabouts that run in a NW-SE and NE – SW direction, perpendicular to each 

other.  There are approximately 4.5km of roads proposed in this main area of the 

site including 19 roundabouts / rest stations.   

 

Landscaping is proposed along the sites boundary with Blackburn Road and also 

within the site.  The landscaping around the periphery of the site would comprise 

wild flower meadows, tree and shrub planting with a more formal pattern of 

planting in and around the Burial plots and tiles.   

 

Within the main area of the site there is more formal areas of landscaping with a 

68m long water feature within the contemplation garden that is bounded by a 

Beech Hedge and also includes Yew hedging.   

 

As well as landscaping, the proposed development makes provision for partial 

regrading of the site and changing of levels.  The Design and Access Statement 

advises that these works would result in a net balance of c.580,000m3 (cut) of 

material.  This is needed to create a “level” landform that is accessible by the 

hearse and by the attendees.   

 

The applicant has submitted the following documents in support of the planning application: 

i. Design and Access Statement; 

ii. Planning Statement; 

Page 8



5 
 

iii. Landscape Appraisal; 

iv. Transport Assessment; 

v. Supplementary Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment Tier 2 Assessment Report; 

vi. Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey; 

vii. Flood Risk assessment; 

viii. Preliminary Arboricultural Assessment; 

ix. Ground Water and Drainage Statement; 

x. Sustainability Statement, and 

xi. Plans and elevations of the proposed development at a variety of scales 

 

Consultations 

 

Public consultation: A large number of letters (several hundred) of objection have been 

received and a wide range of representations have been made.  These are summarised 

below.  Members are advised that in considering the representations made, it is the nature of 

the observations made that must be taken into consideration where these are material, not 

the number of representations.   

 

Although it is understood that a large petition against the development has been organised, 

to date this has not been submitted to the Council.   

 

A letter of support has been received on the grounds that the cemetery will serve all 

communities within Lancashire and will have a peaceful garden for all with public footpaths 

for everyone to enjoy.  The letter also highlights that the Hyndburn Muslim community has 

had significant challenges with burials in Hyndburn, some having to be carried out in 

Blackburn due to inflexibility.   

 

At the time of writing the report a number of representations were still being processed and 

had not been viewed.  Any additional points raised by these representations and not covered 

in this report will be addressed in an update sheet to be provided to members prior to 

Planning Committee.   

 

Representations received cover the following points: 

 

Green Belt 

 Inappropriate development in the Green Belt  

 Loss of Greenbelt will remove the separation Oswaldtwistle and Blackburn  

 The statement submitted shows that the intension is to use the buildings for other 

uses not just burial ground ie Eid and Ramadan. This is not acceptable use in the 

Green Belt.  

 Judge in Timmins and Amor v Gedling Borough Council clarified the definition of 

openness in the absence of a specific definition in the NPPF, by quoting a judge in a 

previous case ‘openness was a concept which related to the absence of a building; it 

is land that is not built upon. Openness is epitomised by the lack of buildings but not 

by buildings that are unobtrusive or screened in anyway’ 

 

Page 9



6 
 

Landscape / Visual Amenity / Scale / Design 

 A review of the Landscape Appraisal has been submitted that has been prepared in 

support of objectors to the proposed development.  This is addressed in the 

Landscape section of the report.   

 Scale- this is addressed in the landscape section of the report  

 Given the demographics of the surrounding area the scale and size of this 

development is not in scale or indeed required for the local area 

 Gravestones won’t fit into the surrounding area  

 The buildings which include a funeral parlour, prayer pavilions and car taker 

accommodation will also be an additional blot on the landscape 

 Loss of lovely views  

 Size of the development will dominate the area  

 1.8m fence around the whole site will not fit in with the area and look like fort Knox 

 The area is twice that of Accrington cemetery and will cover a vast area and 

overpower it – this is considered in the landscape character section of the report 

 The design of the buildings is good but it’s in the wrong place and should be 

relocated where it can serve its local community- the applicant has applied for the 

position of the building, as such this needs to be considered on its merits, set out in 

the report. 

 Decimate semi-rural area  

 Impact on the character of the neighbourhood- this is considered in the landscape 

character section of the report 

 Change in character of Oswaldtwistle as a result of mass development – this is 

considered within the landscape character and openness sections of the report 

 The volume of the building is excessive in relation to the proposed service provision 

 

Heritage 

 Historic Value- this is addressed in the Heritage section of the report 

 Loss of historic features due to the development and its impact on the countryside  

 Dry stone walls on the site  

 

Contamination / Pollution / Drainage 

 Groundwater contamination; Burials should not take place within 10m of a 

watercourse 

 The quarry has been previously back filled and as has ground gas issues which 

maybe exacerbated by the intended use – no objection has been raised in relation 

development from Env Health Officers on these grounds.  

 Air quality/pollution  

 Pesticides and fertilisers needed to maintain the area will cause pollution – this has 

not been raised as an issue from the Environmental Health Officer and it is unlikely 

that this would be used to cause an issue as best practice standards should be used 

when maintaining land  

 Environment Agency website says over 100 burials a year is high risk 

 Cemetery should not be built within 250m of a well/spring- there is a large spring at 

the back of Fountains Way 

 The ground is of low permeability- clay 

Page 10



7 
 

 Mine shafts in the area – the Coal Authority have been notified and their comments, if 

received on this matter will be addressed in the update sheet   

 Flooding into nearby gardens  

 

Amenity / Privacy 

 Lighting concerns in Autumn and winter months - a condition could be used to control 

the lighting on the development. 

 Noise- this is addressed within the amenity section of the report 

 Any ceremonial bells would cause a noise nuisance to residential properties. 

 Wailing at graveside  

 Privacy this is addressed in the amenity section of the report 

 Impact on privacy of gardens of adjoining houses 

 

Biodiversity / Ecology 

 Ecology/biodiversity- this is addressed in the biodiversity section of the report 

 Removal of woodland 

 No additional wildlife protection measures are noted 

 Habitat network for wildlife plants, animals and wildlife will be impacted 

 Habitat Survey has not been completed adequately and does mention all the 

protected species on the site  

 Increased lights would have an impact on biodiversity 

 

Traffic and Highway Safety 

 Concerns over traffic increase/congestion on already busy road  

 No of parking spaces is a concern   

 Access will be difficult due to the already difficult traffic situation on Blackburn Road  

 People travelling from far away to us the cemetery is not sustainable 

 Bus route to the hospital will be affected- the bus route is not being changed.  

 Inability to use PROW 

 How many vehicles needed during construction – this is going to cause 

issue/nuisances for residents  

 Impact on public right of way- this is discussion within the highways section of the 

report  

 

Need / Capacity 

 Adequate capacity in other 3 cemeteries in Hyndburn – Accrington 50 years, Dill Hall 

40 years and Lee Lane 90 years, therefore no need for this site – this has been 

confirmed with the Parks department and they confirm this is the current availability. 

 There is provision in other cemeteries and as such this is not needed- need is 

considered within the report. 

 Pleasington cemetery in Blackburn is to be extended and as such there is plenty of 

space there. Blackburn with Darwen Council have confirmed that they do have space 

left in their cemeteries.  

 Burial plots are available for the next 9 years so no need. 

 

 

Page 11



8 
 

Other matters 

 Increased crime- police have been notified and they have provided advice which can 

be passed to the developer through the use of an informative.  

 The writing in the submission is Islamic therefore it appears this is a Muslim only 

cemetery, this should not be singular for one faith only as this is for the local 

community. This is divisive and racist. This is not a planning consideration  

 Inability to enjoy garden areas is a funeral is taking place next door- it would be 

disrespectful to play music for eg while this is taking place. This is not a planning 

consideration  

 NPPF suggests that brownfield land should be used first and there must be other 

sites suitable for this use in the area.  The applicant is permitted to submit a planning 

application on the land which they choose to, although it is accepted that brownfield 

sites are preferred there is no need for a sequential test to be submitted for the 

application.  

 Lack of consultation with the pubic- Although public consultation is encouraged on 

large scale development, this is not a reason to refuse the planning application. The 

scale of response to the application suggests that the application is well known and 

people have responded in relation to the statutory public consultation undertaken by 

the Local Planning Authority.  

 Very small Muslim population so why do we need a Muslim cemetery- this is not a 

planning consideration  

 Encroachment on English life – this is not a planning consideration  

 House value dropping- this is not a planning consideration  

 Unacceptable for a small village and near to a primary school – this is not a planning 

consideration  

 Muslims should be buried in a Muslim area – this is not a planning consideration  

 Disruption to village life Politicians are promising to combat climate change and the 

next minute we see plans for huge car parks – this is considered within the traffic and 

highway safety section of the report  

 Detrimental to Oswaldtwistle and the people who live there – this provides little detail 

in relation to how it would be detrimental, as it stands it is not a planning 

consideration  

 Lived on this land all my life and don’t want it destroyed for dead people – this is not 

a planning consideration  

 Traumatising for children overlooking the land – this is not a planning consideration  

 Don’t want to look out of windows and see Asian prayer rooms and mosques popping 

up around the area – this is not a planning consideration  

 Historically the applicants have flouted planning law and this evidences that planning 

is not necessarily going to be respected or complied with – this is not a planning 

consideration  

 Current building works on Frontier Park have led to an eyesore development being 

built – this is not a planning consideration  

 Muslim monuments are an eye sore and not needed in a town where very few 

Muslims live – visual amenity is considered within the report 

Page 12



9 
 

 This will attract anti-social behaviour due to its size – this is considered in relation to 

Police advice which can be appended to a planning permission through an 

informative.  

 The Council have known about this for a year – this is not a planning consideration  

 The plans are huge and far in excess of what is needed- this is not a planning 

consideration  

 This gives nothing back to the community – this is not a planning consideration  

 Certain councillors have been working closely with the applicants and have 

expressed their public approval for the plans, surely this is against HBC policy and 

they should be removed / police called in to investigate collaboration- this is not a 

planning consideration  

 People should be buried in the parish they lived – this is not a planning consideration  

 Children looking onto a burial ground is not morally acceptable- this is not a planning 

consideration  

 Local Councillors are elected to serve the residents of Hyndburn and we have the 

facilities to accommodate all of the community for many years – this is not a planning 

consideration  

 Who will complete the project should the applicant’s go into liquidation?- this is not a 

planning consideration  

 This is causing stress and concern to local residents – this is not a planning 

consideration  

 More time is needed for residents to comment- the residents have bene given well 

over the statutory time for consultation responses.  

 The people who have applied for this don’t live in Hyndburn Borough Council – this is 

not a planning consideration  

 The community don’t want it – this is not a planning consideration  

 The information states that the buildings will be used during Eid and Ramadam this is 

not part of a cemetery use – this is covered within the report  

 Warehousing on Frontier Park is an eyesore and planning law has been flouted by 

the applicants there. – this is not a planning consideration  

 Detrimental impact on children’s emotional and mental health – this is not a planning 

consideration  

 Crime during construction- covered in relation to the Police advice issued through an 

informative should the planning permission be granted  

 The size of the development would suggest that Hyndburn ae expecting the arrival of 

a huge pandemic in the Council area- this is not a planning consideration  

 The application states it is to serve all faiths- how is this the case – how are all faiths 

addressed?  

 This application will lead to additional applications once it is approved- this is not a 

planning consideration. 

 Requests have been made for additional time for representations to be made.  In 

response, the Council has a statutory duty to determine planning applications within 

specified timescales and objectors have been advised of the dates by which 

representations should be made.   

 

 

Page 13



10 
 

 

 

 

Responses from Statutory Consultees 

 

LCC Highways:  

 

I have viewed the plans, Archi-structure Masterplan 221-100-01, Works compound site plan 

221-100-02, Admin Building Plan 221-100-02 and Dynamic Transport Planning Transport 

Assessment 3703921 dated October 2021 and I have the following comments to make.  

 

Proposal  

 

The proposals for the Issa Memorial Garden comprise the development of a Cemetery to 

include prayer pavilion, funeral parlour, administration block, ancillary compounds and 

landscaped memorial gardens. The buildings to be constructed on site total approximately 

1,922m2 Gross Floor Area (GFA).  

 

The site relates to a 34.14ha area of open land located to the south of the A679  Blackburn 

Road. The A679 Blackburn Road runs along the site’s northern boundary  where various 

informal/agricultural (gated) vehicle access points lead into the site.  Public footpaths 11-5-

FP20 & 11-5-FP3 run through the site. Diversions are proposed and comments will be made 

separately by the LCC PROW Team.  The site is proposed to serve the north west for 50 – 

80 years.  Burial ceremonies will occur between 10:00 – 16:00 with one or two a day. 

Commonly services will be for 100-150 people with larger services having 400. Other visitors 

are expected for prayer and religious events.  

 

Summary  

 

Lancashire County Council acting as the Highway Authority would request further 

information is submitted and plan amendments as detailed below, regarding the proposed 

development before we can provide our final comments.  Matters are not yet concluded 

however we open to ongoing discussions with the applicant as detailed below.  

 

Traffic Impact  

 

The impact of the traffic on the surrounding highway network will be during the off-peak 

periods when the ceremonies take place between 10:00 – 16:00.  We would request that 

times of opening/operation are suitably controlled by a planning condition of any approval 

given, to ensure that the development traffic does not conflict with traditional peak periods of 

the surrounding highway network.  

 

The large volumes of traffic which the development will generate, clustered together over 

short periods of time, will have a noticeable impact upon the highway network and mitigation 

is necessary to ensure that road users including vulnerable together with the addition of 

development impact can be suitably and safely accommodated.  

Page 14



11 
 

 

The proposal will serve both the local East Lancashire areas and a wider area across the 

north west of England. The strategic road network junctions which will serve the site are 

Junctions 6 and 7 M65 which are both signalised roundabouts and more locally the Peel 

Bank signalised junction (Dunkenhalgh Way A6185) / Hyndburn Road (A679) / Henry Street 

(A679) / Dill Hall Lane (B6231) and the two roundabouts at Church on Blackburn Road 

(A679) / Market Street (B6231) and Blackburn Road (C639).  

 

To overcome the additional off-peak impact of vehicles routeing to the site as a 

consequence of the development a number of existing signalised junctions need to be 

reviewed and revalidated (including positioning of detectors, etc) to maximise junction 

efficiency/reliability. Having regard to LCC requirements the only junction to be, where 

MOVA technology to be reviewed and revalidated is at the Peel Bank signalised junction 

(Dunkenhalgh Way A6185) / Hyndburn Road (A679) / Henry Street (A679) / Dill Hall Lane 

(B6231).  

 

The highway network between J6 and the site via Intack signalised junction lies within the 

jurisdiction of Blackburn with Darwen Council and they will provide comment under a 

separate cover and may also make a similar request.   

 

Site access  

 

Blackburn Road is subject to a 50mph speed-limit and comprises of a single-lane 

carriageway. The speed-limit changes to 30mph to the west upon approach to the residential 

areas of Oswaldtwistle, and changes to 40mph just past the M65 overbridge upon approach 

to Knuzden Brook. A street lighting scheme is in place.  

 

There is no speed data included within the Transport Assessment, we have some data held 

on file from 2015 on Blackburn Road in the vicinity of the site which records 85%ile speeds 

of 49mph EB and 51mph WB.  

 

The good forward visibility and wide carriageway width on Blackburn Road promotes higher 

vehicle speeds and a scheme of measures are required to promote speed compliance to 

ensure highway safety is maintained with the intensification of traffic and to support the 

safety at the site access as well as sustainable users.  

 

There are two points of access proposed to the site on Blackburn Road and both points of 

access must provide a right turn lane with central islands for pedestrians and cyclists to 

cross with dropped kerb and tactile paving on both sides of Blackburn Road. 

 

Visibility splays of X2.4 by Y160m in both directions along Blackburn Road to the nearside 

kerb are shown at the western most site access. Whilst the eastern most site access 

proposes 160m to the west and 90m to the east however speed data is required to 

demonstrate what is necessary.  

 

All the existing field accesses to be removed.  

Page 15



12 
 

 

Off-site highway works  

 

There are some off-site highway works proposed with the Transport Assessment and I would 

seek a comprehensive scheme of measures that mitigate the impact of the development 

traffic on the highway network, irrespective of user.  

 

New footways are proposed on Blackburn Road at the eastern and western extremities and 

a right turn lane with ghost island is proposed at the western most site access.  These are 

supported.  

 

It is necessary to provide a shared pedestrian/cycle footway – 3m wide along the south side 

of Blackburn Road along the development frontage and connecting to the existing footways 

at the eastern/western extremities.  

 

A scheme of traffic calming measures on Blackburn Road including central splitter islands 

with central hatching and other measures yet to be agreed, as determined as part of the 

speed limit review.  

 

Internal layout  

 

Amendments are required to the internal layout to lengthen the internal site access roads 

from Blackburn Road into the site, to provide additional stacking space internally for the 

large numbers of vehicles which will be entering and exiting on Blackburn Road at once, this 

to include 2 exit lanes (as vehicles will be existing within a short time frame potentially 

conflicting with a second service or with other site related movements. This is to prevent any 

unnecessary dwell time for vehicles on Blackburn Road which will result in a highway safety 

issue or conflict from the site impeding on the operation of the public highway.  

 

The internal roads and associated infrastructure (street lighting, surface water drainage, 

paving, lining etc) will not be formally adopted by the Highway Authority and will be privately 

maintained. Schemes for the paving specification, lighting and drainage should be submitted 

to demonstrate a suitable level of provision is proposed.  

 

No security or gating details for the site accesses are submitted, these need to be agreed. 

 

Sustainability  

 

The site must promote and support sustainable travel and measures to achieve this are 

required for walking, cycling and bus patrons as well as electric vehicle charging points to 

support reduced carbon emissions.  

 

Two new quality standard bus stops with shelters to support travel by public transport, to 

serve the bus services in both directions on Blackburn Road are required. The stops should 

be provided in the vicinity of the pavilion with a pedestrian/cycle link to be provided to allow 

bus patrons to directly access the site.  

Page 16



13 
 

 

New sections of shared pedestrian/cycle provision and secure, covered cycle parking and 

EV charging points also support travel by sustainable modes.  

 

Parking provision  

 

The Hyndburn parking standards for D1 Halls and places of worship require a ratio of 1 

space per 5 sqm which equates to 384 spaces. There are 665 car parking spaces proposed 

which is an overprovision. However, we must acknowledge the potential for large numbers of 

worshippers to attend the site and the parking provision must accommodate all vehicles. To 

prevent any overflow of car parking we would seek further information is submitted to 

demonstrate site operation under all conditions and to include funerals, pray, other events, 

etc this will then be used to determine the size of the car park that is necessary.  

 

There should be 10% disabled parking provision provided, 4% motorcycle parking and 

electric vehicle charging points. Secure, covered cycle parking should also be provided to 

support sustainable travel although it is acknowledged that there will be a small demand for 

this development. Whilst parking will be monitored as part of the Car Park Management Plan 

for the site, motorcycle parking may be reduced as demand is likely to be small.  

 

Coach parking should be provided and to be incorporated within the layout including swept 

path analysis with the areas protected and with the use of bankman if necessary.  

Car parking spaces should be surfaced in a bound porous material and marked on the 

ground using a thermoplastic marking. We will not authorise the discharge of surface water 

into the highway drainage system, an alternative means of drainage should be secured.  

 

Car Parking Management Plan (CPMP)  

 

At this stage limited information is provided relating to the CPMP. The following comments 

are provided to assist the applicant and to highlight what would be expected in a CPMP.  

 

Have a named working group; this should include senior management/developer, someone 

that understands building facilities and someone to represent the staff/users/attendees. The 

group should all clearly understand the reasons for a CPMP. The reason for this is to 

highlight the importance of your plan and that the team is taking this matter seriously to 

ensure that all concerns that the community may have on parking will not be an issue, when 

the place of worship is in use.  

 

The second stage of the CPMP is to understand your parking need:  

• Does not consider future demand over time,  

• Secondary use of or other activities that will take place,  

• How and when will deliveries and servicing take place,  

• Will the car park ever be shared with external users  

• How will the car park operate, be secured, type of access control i.e. barriers/bollards 

(part satisfied with the use of ANPR is this linked to access control barrier?)- how and 

Page 17



14 
 

where located to ensure all vehicles will be picked up, how will they operate and 

when.  

• Indicate how modal usage and origins of attendees will be monitored (can only be 

done when in use but needs to be within the CPMS) whilst ANPR is a good source of 

info, does not provide the full picture. At this stage I am aware that some work on this 

has been done and needs to be included.  

• Illumination of the car park; how, type and where. I note others have asked this 

question.  

 

The third stage is to identify your operation system (as indicated from the above).  

•  Needs based parking permit systems assign guaranteed parking spaces to those 

with mobility difficulties and those who car share.  

•  Car share only bays encourage staff to car share by guaranteeing a parking space 

and raising the profile of car sharing.  

• The remaining spaces are then allocated on a needs basis, often taking into account 

distance from origin (home/work etc), the availability of alternative travel options and 

caring responsibilities.  

• Set car use by example (be sustainable), reduce the pressure on that provided.  

 

The fourth stage is to undertake some consultation with potential users/staff/attendees (i.e. 

to benchmark the effectiveness of the above) and provide an opportunity for them to have 

their say on the draft strategy for reasonableness, supporting a clear audit trail. This is to 

ensure that the needs of the place of worship are best satisfied when delivered, having 

regard to your audience and their concerns are taken into consideration and can also identify 

how others can help during the implementation period.  

CPMS should then set out the detail of the following:  

• Objectives  

• Proposed measures  

• Restrictions/penalties – but not to force users not to use the car park thus resulting in 

greater on street issues  

• Monitoring - at regular intervals to be able to evaluate the effectiveness of the 

measures implemented on and off street  

• Next steps, if required (potential future changes to manage demand)  

 

With regard to measures of which some are absent I offer the following advice. 6  

 

arking restrictions (TRO's) on Blackburn Road are required to prevent parking for highway 

safety reasons. These are required from an operational and safety perspective- this to be 

controlled by a Grampian planning condition. 

 

 

Provision of other TRO's to prevent parking on the highway to negate my safety concern for 

other motorised users, pedestrians and cyclists. I would be happy that these to be split into 2 

categories being  

• Initial to support safety of local area including those under a Grampian condition, 

delivery is dependent on those provided by LCC under a do nothing scenario and 

Page 18



15 
 

addition ones to negate against on street parking near the site, funded by this 

proposal.  

• Those necessary as a consequence of use which will only known post operation 

(S106 funding of £25,000, funding to be retained and used as necessary by LCC with 

the full support of this proposal/applicant for 5 years post opening/1st service. 

Unused funds to be returned.  

 

Note: These could be provided earlier however I don’t want to overburden the local network 

unnecessarily.  

 

Strategy for signing of the car park and their locations i.e. VMS, fixed wording on signs 

(with/without illumination). All signing to be located within curtilage of the site unless 

agreement is made with LCC separately to this application.  

 

Details of qualified marshals during large events. Particularly to expedite the location of 

parking especially due to the linear design of the car parking and to avoid any build-up of 

vehicles close to the site accesses.  

 

Conclusion 

 

Further supporting information and plan amendments are requested and detailed above and 

include collection of speed data on Blackburn Road, amendment to the site access layout, 

gating arrangement details, amendment to and further information to support the car parking 

provision and commitment to the car park management plan and off-site highway works.  

 

Further information is requested to support this proposal before a conclusion can be 

reached. 

 

HBC Conservation Officer 

 

The application contains no meaningful appreciation of the historic landscape for the 

reasons summarised below: 

 The development of a cemetery of the nature and size proposed would transform the 

present countryside character introducing a major new landscape feature designed to 

a grid this is visually at odds with the historic landscape. The present visual unity of the 

Green Belt countryside would be lost and the cemetery would separate the fields of 

Cow Hill from the surviving fields of Stand Hill. 

 Cut and fill would destroy any archaeological or other heritage asses which lie within 

the boundary of the site  

 Diversion of two historic tracks which are public footpaths and harm the rural setting of 

heritage assets  

 Setting of listed Knuzden Hall, Knuzden Hall farmhouse and to a lesser extent Stanhill 

Hall would be harmed by the encroachment of development adjacent to their 

perimeters affecting views towards and out of listed buildings. 

 The setting of Cowhill Fold would be harmed by the views of the historic landscape 

being interrupted by the development 

Page 19



16 
 

 Present views of Cowhill fold and stand Hill would be compromised by the incongruous 

development between them  

 

The impact of the proposed development upon the historic landscape would be substantial 

owing to: 

 The very large size of the development site, running the whole length of the Green belt 

and taking in most of the lower field of Stand Hill; 

 The loss of the unified historic character of the saddle landscape; 

 The harm to the setting of the listed buildings of Knuzden Hall Farmhouse, Knuzden 

Hall, Stand Hill Hall and Cowhill Fold; 

 The excavation cut and fill techniques reshaping the landscape; 

 The loss of all historic character and features on the site, and; 

 The grid layout of roads and plots being contrary to the existing countryside character.  

 

The Conservation Officer also notes that in assessing the application, he case officer and 

Planning Committee will need to come to a judgement as to whether the public benefits of 

the scheme outweigh the above harm, taking on board the legal duty with regards to the 

setting of a listed building and other planning issues. If the judgement is that the benefits do 

outweigh the harm leading to an approval of planning permission, then a number of 

mitigations are recommended which are: 

 The making of a detailed archeological level 3+ record of the site and the adjacent land 

to the south rising up Stanhill road, 

 The preservation ex-situ of the medieval slip gate in an appropriate location and any 

other features of historical or archaeological interest not yet identified 

 Appropriate archaeological watching briefs 

 The amendment of the design to one which respects the existing contours, landforms 

and the line of historic tracks, reduces the cut and fill and provides a more sensitive 

naturalistic layout; 

 The planting of large numbers of broadleaf trees across the site to create a woodland 

character, more in keeping with the historic landscape,; and  

 A phasing plan which establishes woodland planting for the whole site at an early 

stage.  

 

A recommendation is made that Lancashire County Council Archaeology are consulted. 

 

LCC Archaeology: 

 

No observations received to date.   

 

HBC Ecology 

 

Objection to the proposal on the following grounds: 

 The local planning authority is not able to discharge its legal duty under the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations.  The applicant needs to provide 

further information to enable the local planning authority to correctly discharge its legal 

duty. 

Page 20



17 
 

 Full details are provided in relation to this which are summarised below: 

 A Great Crested Newt Survey has not been submitted with the application. This 

information is essential to support the planning application and if required, to support a 

European Protected Species license application to enable the proposed activities to 

proceed legally. Without this the planning application must be refused by law.  The 

optimum time for these surveys is 15th April – 30th June and as such this is not possible 

to be provided within the application timeframe.  

 No bat survey has been submitted with the application although the submitted habitat 

survey recommends this. In the absence of this survey and impact assessment the 

planning application must be refused by law. 

 Water Voles are shown on site on the Lancashire Environmental Records (LERN) and 

this is not addressed in the supporting information. This is a significant oversight which 

needs to be remedied before the application can be decided.  

 

The Council’s Ecological advisor also objects to the application for the following reasons 

summarised below: 

 Loss of TPO protected Trees  

 Loss of hedgerow 

 Failure to create wildlife corridors across and throughout the site 

 The application makes no attempt to retain and enhance dry diches across the site or 

replace them with newly created swales 

 The purpose and description of the newly created retention ponds is ambiguous  

 Loss of historic field layout and impact on area/agricultural character 

 No Biodiversity Net gain calculations, biodiversity Net Gain design Stage Report o 

Ecological impact Assessment has been submitted for consideration 

 

HBC Environmental Health 

 

The following comments have been provided: 

 The likely impact of the development on air quality should be carried out by a suitably 

qualified person. The assessment should consider the impact the proposed 

development will have in terms of air quality objectives described in the clean air 

strategy.  

 There should be appropriate arrangements for the storage and removal of wastes 

arising from the premises. Waste should be stored in a manner to prevent any escape 

onto footpaths and beyond the boundary of the site and being detrimental to the 

amenity of local residents/ occupiers 

 

Required condition relating to: 

 Site preparation and constriction phase control of noise/dust/fumes and vibration shall 

be in place to prevent nuisance  

  

Environment Agency 

 

Objection as the proposed cemetery application could pose an unacceptable risk of pollution 

of groundwater, and it is questionable as to whether it would meet the minimum 

Page 21



18 
 

requirements. Recommendation planning permission is refused in line with paragraph 174 of 

the NPPF. The groundwater is in this location is particularly sensitive as it is located upon a 

secondary aquifer A.  

 

Insufficient information has been provided and it is considered that the development may 

pose an unacceptable risk of causing a detrimental impact to groundwater because: 

1. The proposal is projected for over 100 burials per annum, which is regarded as high 

risk in accordance with position statement L3 of ‘The Environment Agency’s 

approach to groundwater protection. Such proposals will only be agreed by the 

Environment Agency where a developer can demonstrate through detailed risk 

assessment, that given the site specific setting and the engineering methods 

proposed groundwater pollution will be avoided.  

2. The current site investigation is from the existing ground topography. Any subsurface 

investigation needs to be beneath the proposed ground topography and grave depth. 

It is not therefore clear that the proposal will meet minimum requirements 3 and 4.  

3. The cut and fill proceedure is apparently cutting into bedrock along the southern 

portions of the burial ground. There is no mapped superficial deposits here and less 

that 10m of cut appears to be proposed, It is therefore not that clear that the proposal 

will meet the requirement of 5.  

4. There is an existing watercourse running through the site. It is not explained how this 

feature will be managed with respect to the development or how a non-burial buffer 

will be provided as per minimum requirement 1. 

5. There is evidence of a spring being present at around NGR SD 726 283. It is not 

explained how this feature is to be managed with respect of the development or how 

a non-burial buffer will be provided as per minimum requirement 1. 

 

Advice for overcoming the objection: 

 

In addition to addressing the five points above, the applicant should provide a scheme to 

assess the risks to groundwater and identify appropriate mitigation to manage those risks. 

The scheme must include the following detailed information: 

i) Tier 1: Risk screening in accordance with the current guidance. 

ii) Where required by the tier 1 assessment, a tier 2: Preliminary quantitative risk 

assessment with detailed desk study and preliminary site investigation 

iii) Where required by a tier 2 assessment, a tier 3: Detailed quantitative risk 

assessment 

iv) Where required by any stage of the risk assessment, a method statement, based 

on that agreed risk assessment, for construction and operation of the proposed 

development. 

v) A completion statement to demonstrate that work specified in the method 

statement has been suitably carried out. 

 

 

Electricity Northwest 

 

Page 22



19 
 

Could have an impact on infrastructure- and informative will be added to planning permission 

so that the developer is aware.   

 

Lead Local Flood Authority:  

 

No observations received to date.   

 

United Utilities: No observations received to date.   

 

Lancashire Fire and Rescue:  No observations received to date. 

 

Highways England: 

 

No observations received to date 

 

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council.  No observations received to date.  

 

Lancashire Constabulary 

 

Advice is given in relation to design which can be provided to the developer should planning 

permission be granted.  A condition could be attached to ensure the relevant design features 

are provided.  

 

Lancashire County Council Public Right of Way Officer 

 

Several Public Rights of Way are in close proximity to the proposed development (PROW). 

Holding objection is given subject to the following conditions being met: 

 The applicant has intimidated their intention to undertaken extensive landscaping; 

Landscaping to be at least 3m from a PROW situated within the proposed 

development or in close proximity. 

 The applicant has intimated their intension to limit access to PROW within the 

proposed site.  The applicant cannot prevent access to users of the PROW 11-5-FP3 

and 11-5-FP20 with either time restrictions or locked gates as under Highways Act 

1980 it is a criminal offence for private landowners to block or obstruct PROW without 

lawful excuse. Rights of way cannot be used for parking vehicles, storing machinery or 

materials and would be deemed an obstruction. 

 The applicant has intimated their intention to divert 11-5-FP3 ad 11-5-FP20;  If 

successful with this diversion the diverted line of both footpaths including their 

continuation to the southern boundary of the proposed site must be a minimum width 

of 2m wide and constructed with a bound surface. 

 Accessing the burial ground from Stanhill road initiates increased footfall in the 

footpaths FP20 and FP19 and therefore a request is made for £3600 S106 monies to 

improve both footpaths to ensure minimal maintenance in the future.  

 Changes in ground levels should be taken into account to be sure that surface water is 

not channelled near to onto a PROW- lessens the risk of flooding and maintenance 

issues 

Page 23



20 
 

 Drainage plans should ensure the surface water is not directed near or onto a PROW 

within the proposed site or in the proximity of it- lessens the risk of the footpaths 

flooding and future maintenance issues. 

 If approved any works likely to cause a health and safety risk to users of the RPOW 

will require a Temporary Closure Notice to be in place prior to works commencing and 

a suitable alternative route needs to be taken into account  

 

Natural England: No comments to make on this application. 

 

Penny Bennet Landscape Consultancy:  The overall concept is unacceptable in 

Landscape terms for the following reasons: 

 This is a large scale scheme on a conspicuous site adjacent to a busy main road and 

crossed by two footpaths with a third running down one edge. It comprises very large 

scale car parking and an extremely extensive network of roads and avenues to access 

different burial plots 

 The cemetery proposals are entirely uncompromising and inappropriate in scale and 

formality and take no account of the local topography, which rises steeply in places, 

around 30m north to south across the site. 

 The design appears to have been superimposed on the landscape as if it were flat, 

and the cross sections indicate a sizeable amount of cut and fill taking place, which 

would create an artificial and engineered landscape which would be very conspicuous 

and very out of keeping with the naturally uneven contours on this hillside. 

 The scheme would suburbanise this whole stretch of countryside effectively joining the 

two communities of Knuzden and Oswaldtwistle  

 The character of the public footpath 20 crossing the site form north to south would be 

completely altered; this is also the route of the Hyndburn Clog a popular long distance 

walk around the borough. The landscape proposals suggest that this is redirected but 

it is not clear where to. 

 The setting of the Conservation Area at Stanhill and that of the two listed buildings 

Knuzden Hall and Knuzden Farm House  would be affected detrimentally by the new 

development which would be out of character with the area, the listed buildings 

substantially so. 

 The buildings on the site don’t relate to the local landscape or local vernacular and 

there is no attempt to set the buildings in the landscape in a sympathetic way. 

 The new car parking will form a very suburban edge to Blackburn Road although it is 

noted that substantial tree planting is proposed, however the very formal nature of this 

would be out of keeping with the immediate area. 

 It is not clear on the landscape proposals exactly where the proposed woodland 

planting will be, but despite the extensive planting along the frontage, the proposal 

would remain very visible.  

 It is not clear on the landscape proposals that the extent of the impermeable and 

permeable paving would be, and given the very large areas of hard surfacing, this 

could have a significant impact on run off and localised flooding, it there are large 

areas of impermeable paving introduced into this Greenfield site 

Page 24



21 
 

 At a detail level looking at the landscape proposals, the species selection is 

reasonably sound through I would query the use of field maple and hornbeam neither 

of which are locally native 

 The landscape proposals refer to ‘graded architectural banking’, and I am uncertain 

how these would appear in cross section and how they would be satisfactorily y 

maintained. The steepness of the site in places suggests some of this banking would 

be very steep and the appropriate ground reinforcement solutions would need to be 

considered to prevent major erosion, along with practical planting proposals for such 

steep ground.  

 The car parking areas are vast, and I note that there is no mention of the drawings of 

bus access or stops or termini, which given the sites location between two sizeable 

population and location on a bus route would be practical to include, and potentially 

reduce the need for such extensive car parking areas.  

 

 

Relevant Planning Policy 

 

Planning law requires that planning applications should be determined in accordance with 

the policies of the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  In 

this instance, the development plan comprises the following documents: 

i. The Hyndburn Core Strategy, adopted 2012.   

ii. The Hyndburn Development Management DPD, adopted 2018. 

iii. The saved policies of the local plan 1996, and; 

iv. The Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2021) is a material consideration where 

relevant.  The responses of statutory consultees are also a material consideration that the 

Council must have regard to when determining planning applications.  The Council must also 

have regard to representations made by local residents that are material to the application.   

The Council has received a large number of representations from local residents on this 

planning application.  It is important to stress that it is not the “volume” or number of 

representations that have been received that is material, but their content, i.e. the points 

being raised.  Planning law has determined that weight should not be given to certain 

matters, including: 

i. The potential impact of a development on property prices; 

ii. The applicant.   

 

The following policies are relevant to the determination of this application: 

 

Hyndburn Core Strategy (CS) 

Policy BD1 Balanced Development Strategy 

Policy HC1 Green Space and facilities for walking/cycling 

Policy Env1 Green infrastructure  

Policy Env2 Natural Environment Enhancement 

Policy Env3 Landscape Character 

Policy Env4 Sustainable Development & Climate Change. 

Page 25



22 
 

Policy Env6 High Quality Design 

Policy Env7 Environmental Amenity 

Policy T2 Cycle and Footpath Networks  

 

Hyndburn Development Management Development Plan Document (DMDPD) 

GC1 Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 

GC2 Infrastructure, Planning Obligations and CIL  

DM17 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows  

DM18  Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

DM19  Protected Species  

DM20 Flood Risk Management and Water Resources 

DM22 Protection of Heritage Assets  

DM24 Contaminated or unstable land and storage of hazardous materials  

DM25 Pollution control  

DM26 Design Quality and Materials 

DM29 Environmental Amenity 

DM31  Waste Management in all new development 

DM32 Sustainable Transport, Traffic and Highway Safety 

DM33 Sustainable Transport Infrastructure 

DM34 Development in the Green Belt and Countryside Area 

 

Development Management Development Plan Document guidance notes GN3, GN7, GN8, 

GN10.  The Guidance Notes are material considerations were relevant.   

 

Other Material Considerations  

 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was revised in 2021.  NPPF contains a 

presumption in favour of sustainable development and in turn the determination of planning 

applications in accordance with the development plan.   

 

Green Belt is a national designation and section 13 of NPPF sets out Government guidance 

on Green Belt.  The following paragraphs are particularly relevant to the proposed 

development: 

 

137.  The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of 

Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the 

essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence.  

 

138.  Green Belt serves five purposes: a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-

up areas; b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; c) to assist in 

safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; d) to preserve the setting and 

special character of historic towns; and e) to assist in urban regeneration, by 

encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land.  

 

Page 26



23 
 

Proposals affecting the Green Belt  

 

147.  Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should 

not be approved except in very special circumstances.  

 

148.  When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure 

that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt.  ‘Very special 

circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason 

of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly 

outweighed by other considerations.  

 

149.  A local planning authority should regard the construction of new buildings as 

inappropriate in the Green Belt.  Exceptions to this are:  [of the exceptions listed b) 

is relevant to this proposal]….. 

b)  the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of 

land or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and 

burial grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness 

of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within 

it;  

 

150.  Certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in the Green Belt 

provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes of 

including land within it. These are: :  [of the exceptions listed e) is relevant to this 

proposal] 

e)  material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport 

or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds);  

 

Greenbelt Assessment 2018  

 

As part of the development of the Local Plan for Hyndburn the Council commissioned 

consultants to undertake a Green Belt Assessment.  Whilst this work was undertaken to 

provide an evidence base for the local plan, it is relevant and material insofar that it 

considers the extent to which the Green Belt across Hyndburn satisfies the purposes of the 

Green Belt (set out at para 138 of NPPF and listed above).   

 

It is important to stress that the Green Belt Assessment is NOT POLICY, but is evidence that 

has been commissioned by the Council in relation to Green Belt.   

 

Page 27



24 
 

 
Fig 2.  Plan extract from Green Belt Assessment illustrating the general area of the 

proposed developed.  Parcels 25 and 26 were assessed as part of the study.   

 

In terms of the general area (Area 6) the Green Belt Assessment found that the “GA makes 

a strong contribution to one purposes and a moderate contribution to four purposes. In line 

with the methodology, professional judgement has been used to evaluate the overall 

contribution. The GA has been judged to make a moderate overall contribution to the Green 

Belt. The GA makes a strong contribution to preserving the setting and special character of 

the historic town of Church and Oswaldtwistle The GA makes a moderate contribution to the 

checking of unrestricted sprawl due to the less durable boundaries and the potential for 

rounding off in the eastern section of the GA. The GA makes a moderate contribution to 

preventing neighbouring towns from merging.  The GA makes a moderate contribution to 

safeguarding the countryside from encroachment supporting a strong moderate openness 

with durable boundaries with the countryside which could contain development and prevent 

it from threatening the overall openness and permanence of the Green Belt.  The GA makes 

a moderate contribution to assisting in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of 

derelict and other urban land.” 

 

 
Fig 3. Extract from Green Belt Assessment indicating that the Green Belt in this 

location is considered to provide a “moderate” contribution” to the purposes of the 

Green Belt in this area.   

 

Page 28



25 
 

 
Fig 4. Extract from Green Belt Assessment indicating that parcel 25 was considered 

to have a moderate contribution to the purposes of the Green Belt, whilst parcel 26 

was considered to make a strong contribution.   

 

The detailed overall description of parcels 25 and 26 is set out below: 

 

Parcel 25 

 

The parcel makes a strong contribution to one purpose, a moderate contribution to two 

purposes, and a weak contribution to two purposes. In line with the methodology, 

professional judgement has been applied to evaluate the overall contribution. The parcel has 

been judged to make a moderate overall contribution. The parcel supports s strong degree 

of openness and has mostly less durable boundaries with the countryside, thus the parcel 

makes a strong contribution to safeguarding from encroachment. However development 

within the parcel could constitute rounding off of the settlement pattern thus it would not 

threaten the overall openness and permanence of the Green Belt. The parcel makes a weak 

contribution to checking unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas due to the potential for 

rounding off. The parcel makes a moderate contribution to preventing towns from merging 

and a weak contribution to preserving the setting and special character of historic towns. The 

parcel makes a moderate contribution to assisting in urban regeneration.   

 

Parcel 26 

 

The parcel makes a strong contribution to two purposes, a moderate contribution to two 

purposes, and no contribution to one purpose. In line with the methodology, the parcel has 

been judged to make a strong overall contribution. There are less durable boundaries 

between the parcel and the built up area and the parcel plays a role in preventing ribbon 

development and thus the parcel makes a strong contribution to checking unrestricted 

sprawl of large built-up areas. In addition, the parcel makes a strong contribution to 

protecting the countryside from encroachment due to supporting a strong- moderate degree 

of openness and its less durable boundaries with the countryside. The parcel makes a 

moderate contribution to preventing towns from merging and no contribution to preserving 

the setting and special character of historic towns. The parcel makes a moderate 

contribution to assisting in urban regeneration.   

 

Page 29



26 
 

Observations 

 

Planning law requires that planning applications be determined in accordance with the 

policies of the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The 

proposed development raises a number of issues that will be addressed in this report as 

follows: 

 

i. The principle of the development; 

ii. Landscape; 

iii. Ecology 

iv. Highways and public rights of way; 

v. Groundwater and drainage; 

vi. Heritage; 

vii. Amenity; 

viii. Summary and conclusion 

 

i. The principle of the development 

 

The site is located in open land between West End / Oswaldtwistle and the M65 motorway in 

an area designated Green Belt.  The proposed development would infill the open, 

undeveloped, area between the built up area of Accrington / Oswaldtwistle to the east and 

the M65 motorway to the west.  There is only a very thin strip of Green Belt between the built 

up area of Blackburn / Knuzden and the M65 motorway.   

 

The Hyndburn Core Strategy3 seeks to maintain and support the existing settlement pattern 

by concentrating development in the urban areas and by limiting development within rural 

areas to that supporting farm diversification and promoting leisure and recreational facilities 

whilst retaining landscape character.  Part e) of Policy BD1 also seeks to maintain the 

overall general extent of the Green Belt, although a number of changes to the Green Belt are 

listed.   

 

The development plan does not contain any specific policies for cemeteries / burial grounds 

and it is therefore necessary to turn to the National Planning Policy Framework in relation to 

cemeteries and Green Belt.   

 

The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 

permanently open, the essential characteristics of Green Belts being their openness and 

their permanence4.  When considering any planning application, local planning authorities 

should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt5.  In considering 

the appropriateness of development in the Green Belt, NPPF considers both built 

development (para 149) and certain other forms of development (para 150).   

 

                                                           
3
 Policy BD1 a) c) and e) .   

4
 NPPF, para 137.   

5
 NPPF, para 148.   

Page 30



27 
 

Paragraph 149 of NPPF advises that local planning authorities should regard the 

construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt, but lists a number of 

exceptions including: 

b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a 

change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds 

and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and 

do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it.   

 

The applicant proposes the development of four buildings with a total gross internal 

floorspace of 1,446m2, the largest being the prayer building in the centre of the site.   

 

Similarly, paragraph 150 of NPPF advises that certain other forms of development are also 

not inappropriate in the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict 

with the purposes of including land within it.  These are: 

b) engineering operations; 

c) local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt 

location; 

e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or 

recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); 

 

In order to facilitate the development of a cemetery at the site, extensive engineering 

operations are required.  These will involve cut and fill operations and the development of 

retaining walls or similar features.   

 

The applicant also proposes significant local transport infrastructure within the site, the 

submitted plan illustrating 752 car-parking spaces6, the development of approximately 6km 

of roads7 and 5.5km of internal paths.   

 

The development is proposing the material change of use of the site for use as a cemetery / 

burial ground with the associated infrastructure.  Whilst national policy believes that the 

development of a cemetery and associated buildings can be considered appropriate (or not 

inappropriate) development in the Green Belt, this is subject to the requirement that the 

development preserves the openness of the Green Belt, and any other h and does not 

conflict with the purposes of including land within the Green Belt.   

 

The Openness of the Green Belt 

 

The essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence.  The 

construction of large buildings, extensive roads and car-parks would result in a substantial 

amount of built development where there is presently open fields.  The proposed car-park 

                                                           
6
 There appears some uncertainty regarding the number of car-parking spaces.  Table 4.1 of the submitted 

Transport Assessment suggests that under the “worst case parking demand” 500 car-parking spaces are 
required.  The Planning Statement and Design and Access Statement refer to about 665 car-parking spaces, the 
planning application form 656 spaces, whilst the submitted site masterplan illustrates 752 car-parking spaces.   
7
 This includes approximately 4.5km of road within the area of the burial grounds and 1.5km of roadway within 

the car-park along the length of Blackburn Road.   

Page 31



28 
 

extends across the entire 750m frontage of the site from the industrial estate at West End to 

the M65 motorway.  The site slopes down towards the road and much of it will be visible 

from Blackburn Road and other view points.  An extensive network of roads and footways is 

proposed across the site and the grid pattern design and layout of these does not have 

regard to the site topography.  The scale and location of the car-park (with lighting), site 

junctions, site buildings and infrastructure would inevitably lead to a significant loss of 

openness.   

 

The site is not level and without substantial engineering operations the site would not be 

suitable for the proposed use.  The creation of a new land form, coupled with the formal grid 

layout of the roads and paths and the formal landscaping within the site will further contribute 

to the loss of openness.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the presence of a hedge along 

stretches of Blackburn Road and the ability to introduce further landscaping will help to 

mitigate some of the visual impact of the development, it is not considered that this is 

sufficient to make the loss of openness arising from the development acceptable.   

 

The development is permanent.  The large scale engineering operations would be 

undertaken at an early stage followed by the development of roads, buildings and car-

parking.  The development has not been designed to blend with the landscape and will result 

in the loss of many of the landscape features across the site.   

 

NPPF advises at para 148 that when considering any planning application, local authorities 

should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt.  “Very special 

circumstances” will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 

inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by 

other considerations.   

 

For these reasons set out above, whilst NPPF considers that cemeteries and associated 

buildings could be appropriate development in the Green Belt, owing to the scale and design 

of the proposed development it is considered that the proposed development would result in 

significant harm to and permanent loss of openness of the Green Belt.   

 

The purposes of including land within the Green Belt 

 

There are five purposes of including land within the Green Belt, each will be considered in 

turn: 

a) To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas; 

By virtue of its scale and design, the development would result in loss of openness 

and the proposal would result in the unrestricted sprawl of the existing built up areas.   

b) To prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another; 

The site fills the rural gap between west Accrington (West End / Oswaldtwistle) and 

east Blackburn (Knuzden).  The development of this space would significantly reduce 

the openness of the Green Belt in the manner proposed above and would have the 

perceived effect of merging the two towns.  

c) To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

Page 32



29 
 

The proposed development would result in permanent encroachment into the rural 

area and loss of countryside.   

d) To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

The site is in close proximity to Stanhill Conservation Area and would affect the 

setting of three listed buildings.   

e) To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land.   

Given the nature of the proposed development, this development does not impact on 

this purpose.   

 

For the reasons set out above, it is therefore considered that the development would conflict 

with the purposes of including land within the Green Belt, contrary to paragraphs 149 and 

150 of National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

Policy DM34 of the Development Management DPD seeks to provide a more detailed policy 

framework for development within rural areas that reflects the approach set out in Policy 

BD1.  The first part of Policy DM34 concerns the development of new buildings of new 

buildings in the Green Belt and although the proposed development does not meet any of 

the criteria (a-d inclusive) the policy is not consistent with the National Planning Policy 

Framework and its position on cemeteries and burial grounds.   

 

The second part of Policy DM34 sets out a number of more general criteria that the 

development of new buildings should satisfy: 

a) Have a suitable access in place …. Without adversely impacting on rural character. 

b) Protect and enhance nature conservation features and species, including the areas 

soils – see section below on ecology and biodiversity. 

c) Be capable of being developed without adversely affecting the character of the rural 

landscape – see section below on landscape.   

d) Have satisfactory arrangements in place for the discharge of foul and surface water – 

see section below on drainage.   

e) For residential proposals – not relevant 

f) The design of buildings must be sensitive to the local area and must respect the rural 

setting in terms of materials used, their detailing and overall appearance.  A more 

traditional approach will be favoured and any scheme should not have an urbanising 

impact on the site and surrounding area.   

 

Parts 3-7 (inclusive) of Policy DM34 are not relevant to this proposal.   

 

Although the applicant has not sought to argue that there are very special circumstances 

that should outweigh harm to the Green Belt, and any other harm arising from the 

development, they do believe that there is a need for the development.   

 

Part f) of Policy DM34 seeks to ensure that the design of buildings reflects their rural setting.  

The design of the maintenance buildings is considered acceptable and although the design 

of the main buildings in the centre of the site is more modern, also constructed using natural 

stone, it reflects the proposed use and their design is considered acceptable.   

Page 33



30 
 

 

Need for the development 

 

The Design and Access Statement and Planning Statement submitted by the applicant both 

maintain that there is a need for a new cemetery development.  The applicant maintains that 

most of the Muslim cemeteries across the UK are near full to capacity, something that has 

been made worse by the covid 19 pandemic with the Muslim community being affected more 

than others.  The applicant cites examples of issues arising in Birmingham and London.  The 

applicant also refers to work undertaken by Dr Rugg of York University who undertook audits 

of burial space in London but who also observed that “We have no national data on the 

number of cemeteries in operation, how full they are, and the particular pressures faced by 

particular groups in particular locations.”  

 

In Islam, cremation is not allowed and there is, therefore, a continued need for burial 

grounds.  The proposed cemetery is intended to serve the North West area, within a travel 

time of 1 hour.  The applicant has not produced any data from the proposed catchment area 

that confirms or demonstrates a shortage of burial sites.  It is understood that there is 

sufficient burial capacity at cemeteries in Hyndburn, and although officers have asked what 

the position is in Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council, no response has been 

forthcoming.  This will be included in the update.   

 

Whilst the Office for National Statistics does not provide figures for the numbers of people 

buried against those cremated, figures from the Cremation Society8 indicate that in England, 

Wales, the Isle of Man and the Channel Isles there has been a steady increase in the 

number of people being cremated as opposed to buried, with 80.89% of people being 

cremated in 2020.   

 

There is no standard methodology for calculating need for burial spaces and in the absence 

of any local information, either for Lancashire or the North West, it is not considered that a 

need has been demonstrated.   

 

ii. Landscape; 

 

The proposed development stretches across a significant area of open landscape between 

the built up areas of Accrington and Blackburn.  Policy Env3 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy 

seeks to ensure that the design of new development is appropriate to the landscape 

character type within which it is situated and contributes towards the conservation, 

enhancement, or restoration of landscape character or creation of appropriate new features.  

The policy seeks to protect landscape character in a number of ways, including by ensuring 

that new development is well integrated with the existing settlement pattern (criteria a) and 

by maintaining and reinforcing a clear distinction between the urban edge and the rural 

areas (criteria b).  Landscape character is also protected and enhanced by encouraging the 

restoration of traditional field boundary walls and hedgerows.   

 

                                                           
8
 See cremation.org.uk website 

Page 34



31 
 

Policy DM34 of the Development Management DPD also concerns development in rural 

areas and seeks to ensure that all proposals involving the development of new buildings 

must be capable of being developed without adversely affecting the character of the rural 

landscape.   

 

The site is located within Natural England’s National Character Area Profile 35: Lancashire 

Valleys.  The area extends from Chorley in the south west to Earby in the North East 

following the route of the M65 that, for a large part, runs along the base of the valleys 

through Blackburn, Accrington and Burnley.  The National Character Area Profile contains a 

describes the character of the landscape, its key characteristics, how it has evolved through 

time and its ecological and cultural services.  The Area Profile also includes a number of 

Statements of Environmental Opportunity that set out measures that can be taken to 

enhance and protect the landscape.  This has not been referred to by the applicant.   

 

At a more detailed level, A Landscape Strategy for Lancashire was produced by Lancashire 

County Council in 2000.  This strategy identifies the site within the area described as 

“Industrial Foothills and Valleys”.  This character area is sub-divided into four character area 

and the site is within Area 6a, the Calder Valley.  

 

The application includes a Landscape Appraisal carried out by ‘DEP Landscape 

Architecture’. This explains how the burial grounds will be laid out in a geometric pattern 

orientated towards Qibla (the sacred building at Mecca to which Muslims turn to pray) and 

that these would comprise interconnecting square vehicular roads within an internal grid 

pattern of smaller paths providing access to the graves.  The avenues would be lined with 

formal trees and the boundaries softened with native woodland planting.  

 

The report summarises that the potential visual receptors including public footpaths across 

and adjacent to the site, the M65 motorway where it crosses Blackburn Road, Knuzden Hall 

and Knuzden Hall Farm House (Listed), points on the edge of Oswaldtwistle, Cowhill Fold 

and Blackburn Road.  It also notes that within the site the following direct, permanent 

landscape effects as a result of the proposed development would be experienced: 

 

 Loss of internal field boundaries- the site boundary stone walls and hedges to be 

retained 

 Loss of grazing land 

 Construction of car parking facilities along the northern boundary of the site 

 Construction of geometric patter of internal roads/paths to service the graves 

 Establishment of formal trees and vegetation around the site 

 Introduction of native woodland vegetation around the site boundaries 

 

Landscape effects are also acknowledged to arise in visual amenity and view experienced 

by receptors immediately adjacent to the site, which may alter the perception of the 

landscape character or the key characteristics. The report also acknowledges that the 

proposed development would have a direct impact on views from these receptors which 

depending on the sensitivity of the receptors i.e. people travelling on the road, people in 

Page 35



32 
 

residential properties and people walking along public footpaths, the potential magnitude of 

the change that he development would present will vary. 

 

The report concludes by putting forward some mitigation to ensure that the development is 

sympathetic to its environment and considers all impacts on the landscape and visual 

amenity. These include the following:  

 

 Consideration and retention of the more valuable TPO trees around the site 

boundaries 

 Building positioned at eh norther (lower) end of the site 

 Main car park to be positioned along the northern boundary of the site, adjacent to 

the road,  

 Respect existing landform, and avoid built form on higher slopes to the south 

 Establish pockets of native woodland around the site boundaries 

 Retain the reservoir on the site  

 Protection of PROW across the site and sympathetic diversions where required 

 Improve the natural species and structural diversity across the site 

 Avoid lighting within the main body of the site 

 

These mitigation measures have been included on the proposed landscape masterplan 

submitted with the application to ‘ensure that the development is respectful of its 

environmental and surroundings and to reduce the impact on the landscape and visual 

amenity’. 

 

The Council has taken advice form a Landscape Consultant ‘Penny Bennet Landscape 

Architects’ to consider the information that has been submitted.  She has noted that the time 

she has spent on this is brief as the Council have requested that she provides a ‘brief 

overview’ of the development in landscape terms.  She has noted also that more time could 

be spent and more detail could be provided, but that ‘the detail is probably irrelevant as the 

overall concept is totally unacceptable in landscape terms’.     

 

She advises that the landscape is reasonably typical of the Industrial Foothills and Valleys 

landscape character type and the Calder Valley 6a, landscape character area and that this 

area of countryside is an important break between the two communities of Oswaldtwistle and 

Knuzden providing important separation, there is a strong sense of openness driving along 

Blackburn Road  

 

She believes that this is an unacceptable scheme in landscape terms for the following 

reasons: 

 

‘• This is a large scale a scheme on a conspicuous site adjacent to a busy main road 

and crossed by two footpaths with a third running down one edge.  It comprises very 

large scale car parking and an extremely extensive network of roads and avenues to 

access different burial plots. 

Page 36



33 
 

• The cemetery proposals are entirely uncompromising and inappropriate in scale and 

formality and take no account of the local topography, which rises steeply in places, 

around 30 m north to south across the site.   

• The design appears to have been superimposed on the landscape as if it were flat, 

and the cross sections indicate a sizeable amount of cut and fill taking place, which 

would create an artificial and engineered landscape which would be very 

conspicuous and very out of keeping with the naturally uneven contours on this 

hillside. 

• The scheme would suburbanise this whole stretch of countryside effectively joining 

the two communities of Knuzden and Oswaldtwistle. 

• The character of the public footpath 20 crossing the site from north to south would be 

completely altered, this is also the route of the Hyndburn Clog a popular long 

distance walk around the borough.  The landscape proposals suggest that this is 

redirected but it is not clear where to.   

• The settings of the Conservation area at Stanhill and that of the two listed buildings 

Knuzden Hall and Knuzden Farm House would be affected detrimentally by the new 

development which would be out of character with the area, the listed buildings 

substantially so. 

• The buildings on the site don’t relate to the local landscape or local vernacular and 

there is no attempt to set the buildings in the landscape in a sympathetic way. 

• The new carparking will form a very suburban edge to Blackburn Road although it is 

noted that substantial tree planting is proposed, however the very formal nature of 

this would be out of keeping with the immediate area. 

• It is not clear on the landscape proposals exactly where the proposed woodland 

planting will be, but despite the extensive tree planting along the frontage, the 

proposals would remain very visible. 

• It is not clear on the landscape proposals what the extent of the impermeable and 

permeable paving would be, and given the very large areas of hard surfacing this 

could have a significant impact on run off and localised flooding, if there are large 

areas of impermeable paving introduced into this greenfield site. 

• At a detail level looking at the landscape proposals, the species selection is 

reasonably sound though I would query the use of field maple and hornbeam neither 

of which are locally native. 

• The landscape proposals refer to ‘graded architectural banking’, and I am uncertain 

how these would appear in cross section and how they would be satisfactorily 

maintained.  The steepness of the site in places suggests some of this banking would 

be very steep and the appropriate ground reinforcement solutions would need to be 

considered to prevent major erosion, along with practical planting proposals for such 

steep ground. 

• The car parking areas are vast, and I note there is no mention on the drawings of bus 

access or stops or termini, which given the sites location between two sizeable 

population and located on a bus route would be practical to include, and potentially 

reduce the need for such extensive car parking areas’. 

 

Within the objections that have been received a review of the submitted Landscape 

Appraisal has been submitted by a company of qualified Landscape Architects.  Whilst 

Page 37



34 
 

Officers are not qualified to consider the detail within this report, the landscape consultant 

employed by the Council has looked at the information submitted, and she has confirmed 

that she largely agrees with them.  She also confirms that she hadn’t taken the Landscape 

Appraisal submitted with the application as a formal landscape and visual assessment.  She 

also agrees that a formal Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) should have 

been produced for this site in order to fully assess its impact.  

 

In information which has been submitted with the application is lacking in detail and hard to 

understand.  There is little detailed information submitted on the landscaping plan. It notes 

‘native wildflower planting’ and ‘native woodland edge planting’ on the site, yet the labelling 

of the plan is not specific and it is hard to understand which area this applies to.  Without this 

full information it is not possible to consider whether woodland planting is appropriate in this 

area and whether that would have a detrimental impact on the landscape character of this 

site.  

 

For these reasons it is considered that by virtue of its scale and design, the proposed 

development would have an unacceptable adverse impact on the rural character of the 

landscape contrary to Policies Env3 and Env 6 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy, Policy DM34 

of the Development Management DPD and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

iii. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 

The policies of the development plan (Policy Env 2 of the Core Strategy and policies DM17, 

18 and 19 of the Development Management DPD) seek to conserve and enhance the 

natural environment in a manner consistent with Government Policy and NPPF.  The 

applicant has undertaken and submitted an extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey in support of 

the planning application that considers both the habitats on site and protected species.  The 

recently passed Environment Act also requires new developments to demonstrate net 

biodiversity gain.  These matters will be considered in turn:   

 

Site Habitats 

 

The main habitat across the site is improved grassland that is currently grazed by sheep.  

There are also areas of marshy grassland, hedgerows, scattered shrubs and trees.  The 

applicant has submitted a Phase 1 Habitat Survey for the site that identifies the habitats that 

exist.  The Council’s Ecological Advisor has raised a number of concerns in relation to the 

proposed development, particularly around the loss of particular habitats including hedgerow 

and dry ditches.  Whilst there appears to be potential to develop wildlife corridors across the 

site, the submitted information does not illustrate how this could be done.   

 

Issues relating to the management of Himalayan Balsam and the timing of clearance works 

would normally be addressed through planning conditions.   

 

Protected Species 

 

Page 38



35 
 

The submitted Phase 1 Habitat Survey identifies three ponds within or in proximity to the 

site.  The report recommends that further survey work is undertaken to establish the 

presence or likely absence of Great Crested Newts.  The Council’s Ecological Advisor has 

objected to the proposed development on the grounds that no survey has been carried out 

for Great Crested Newts.  Given the proximity of the proposed development to the pond, this 

is considered necessary and it cannot be made subject to a planning condition.   

 

Similarly, the Phase 1 Habitat Survey recognises that the proposed development is likely to 

result in the loss of trees that could provide habitat and / or foraging areas for bats.  The 

Council’s Ecological Advisor has also objected on the grounds that the applicant has not 

submitted a bat survey, contrary to the requirements of Policy DM19 of the Development 

Management DPD.  The Council’s Ecological advisor has also advised on the needs to 

assess the likely presence or absence of Water Voles, UK Protected Species, on the basis 

that they have been recorded as present on adjacent land.   

 

Great Crested Newts and Bats are European Protected Species and in the absence of 

appropriate site surveys the Council should not grant planning permission for development 

that could directly affect these species and their habitat.  The Council has not been able to 

adequately determine the impact of development on European Protected Species, the 

Council is therefore not able to discharge its legal duty under the Conservation of Habitats 

and Species Regulations. 

 

Net Gain 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework advises9 that planning policies and decisions 

should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts 

on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological 

networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.  In order to demonstrate 

“net gain” in biodiversity it is necessary to measure the biodiversity value of the site before 

the development (the base-line) and measure the biodiversity value following development.   

 

Whilst it is likely that that the development could demonstrate a net biodiversity gain (BNG), 

the applicant has not submitted this work and the Landscape Masterplan needs clarifying so 

that the extent and type of woodland / shrub / wildflower planting can be seen and properly 

assessed from a landscape perspective as well as a biodiversity perspective.   

 

Trees 

 

Policy DM17 of the Development Management DPD concerns trees, woodland and 

hedgerows.  The policy recognises the importance of trees, woodlands and hedgerows as 

part of our countryside landscape and seeks to avoid the loss of trees, woodlands and 

hedgerows where possible.  Development proposals should not result in the loss of trees 

that are subject to a Tree Preservation Order.   

 

                                                           
9
 NPPF, para 174.   

Page 39



36 
 

Although the Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey noted the presence of trees and their 

potential to accommodate associated protected species (bats), the applicant has submitted a 

Preliminary Arboricultural Assessment that considers the trees on site in more detail.   

 

The proposed development will give rise to the loss of a number of individual trees, tree 

groups and hedgerows.  The Arboricultural Assessment indicates that 11 individual trees will 

be removed due to the development and a further 7 individual trees will be removed due to 

their condition.  In addition 3 trees groups will also be removed, which will result in the loss 

of a further 65 trees, and other smaller scrub trees of unknown number. 

 

The two main groups of trees that will be removed are Group G1 along the western frontage 

of the site close to the motorway and Group G3 which is a well established group of trees 

close to the pond on the eastern side of the site.  These trees are also protected by a Tree 

Preservation Order.  The trees in Groups G1 and G3 are considered to be category A trees.  

The proposed development will also result in the loss three hedges, including a 60m stretch 

of Hawthorn hedge along the frontage of the site to create the two new entrance points.  The 

loss of these trees and hedgerows contribute towards the overall harm arising from the 

development to the landscape and its character.   

 

The Arboricultural Assessment believes that these losses can be mitigated as the proposed 

scheme includes extensive tree planting that will provide a significant net gain in the tree 

population of the site.  Although the Assessment provides no details of the numbers, or 

types of trees that are proposed to be planted, a Landscape Masterplan has been submitted 

that illustrates areas of formal and informal landscaping within the site.   

 

Formal landscaping is proposed around the site buildings and in the corners of the burial 

tiles.  The large contemplation garden is bounded by an ornamental beech hedge and a 

feature taxus (yew) hedge is also proposed either side of the ornamental water feature.  

Evenly spaced rows of trees are proposed in the car-park parallel to Blackburn Road and 

further tree planting is proposed alongside Blackburn Road although this appears less 

formal.   

 

Informal landscaping is proposed around the periphery of the site with a mix of native 

woodland and wildflower meadows.  Whilst the submitted drawings provide the mix of 

species proposed, the key is not clear in this respect and further information is needed to 

understand the extent and type of planting proposed.   

 

The proposed development is likely to adequately compensate for the loss of trees arising, 

however, more information is needed so that the extent of woodland planting / glades and 

wildflower meadows can be understood.   

 

Soils 

 

Policy DM18 (8) of the Development Management DPD concerns the need to safeguard and 

enhance soil quality within the Borough.  The proposed development involves extensive re-

grading of soils and potentially the removal of large quantities of soil from the site.  Further 

Page 40



37 
 

information is required on the nature of the engineering operations that are proposed and 

the means by which soil will be managed.  These works and the number of vehicle 

movements associated with this element of the development and their impact on amenity 

and highway safety has not been considered.   

 

iv. Highways, parking and public rights of way; 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework seeks to ensure that new developments 

incorporate appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes, given the type 

of development and its location, and that safe and suitable access to the site is provided10.  

These aims are supported by policies DM32 and DM33 of the Development Management 

DPD.  The applicant has submitted a Transport Assessment that considers a range of 

matters including site accessing and servicing, parking provision, need and operations, 

access by non-car modes and anticipated highway impacts.  This is supported by technical 

information that is appended.   

 

The Highway Authority has requested additional information be submitted on a range of 

matters, advising that this is needed before they make their final comments.  Whilst they 

observe that the impact of traffic on the surrounding network will be during off-peak periods, 

they request that this is controlled using a planning condition.  It is recognised by the 

Highway Authority that the development has the potential to generate large volumes of 

traffic, clustered together over short periods of time, having a noticeable impact on the 

highway network.  Mitigation is necessary to ensure that road users can be suitably and 

safely accommodated.   

 

Sustainable Transport 

 

The site must promote and support sustainable travel and measures to achieve this are 

required for walking, cycling and bus patrons as well as electric vehicle charging points to 

support reduced carbon emissions.  Although the applicant assumes that all journeys to the 

site will be made by car, and have provided a level of car parking that reflects this, the 

Highway Authority have requested the following measures: 

a) Two new quality standard bus stops with shelters to support travel by public 

transport, to serve the bus services in both directions on Blackburn Road; 

b) New sections of shared pedestrian / cycle provision and secure, covered cycle 

parking and EV charging points.   

 

Highway safety and traffic movement 

 

The proposed development incorporates two vehicular access points, one to the east side of 

the site that would be used to access the east car park, and an access on the western edge 

of the site to access the west car-park, works compound and staff offices.   

 

                                                           
10

 NPPF, para 110.   

Page 41



38 
 

The Highway Authority recommends that a number of signalised junctions are reviewed and 

revalidated to maximise the junction efficiency and have advised that Blackburn with Darwen 

Borough Council may make a similar request for signalised junctions within their area.   

 

In considering the site access points, the Highway Authority observes that no speed data is 

included within the Transport Assessment which is needed to establish the required visibility 

splays.  The Highway Authority have advised that a scheme of measures is needed to 

promote speed compliance to support safety at the site access points.  Right hand turn lanes 

with central islands for pedestrians are also required.   

 

The Highway Authority has also recommended that Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO’s) be 

implemented along Blackburn Road for highway safety reasons.  This is something that 

could be managed through a planning condition.   

 

Within the site, a number of modifications have also been requested to the internal layout of 

the site access roads, including two exit lanes that will have the effect of further widening the 

access.  The Highway Authority will not adopt the internal roads and details are requested of 

the paving specification, lighting and drainage to demonstrate a suitable level of provision is 

proposed.   

 

Car Parking 

 

Car-parking is proposed along the entire length of Blackburn Road in three rows of car-

parking spaces accessed via two internal site roads that run parallel to Blackburn Road.  The 

submitted information is inconsistent in relation to the level of car-parking required and the 

number of spaces proposed: 

 

Hyndburn Standard for D1 Use For D1 Halls and places of worship a ratio of 1 space 

per 5sqm is required which equates to 384 spaces.   

Transport Assessment Demand:  Based on a worst case parking demand 

assessment with two consecutive large funeral events 

and other visitors there is a total demand for 500 

spaces.  Services are supported by 10-15 on-site staff.   

Design and Access Statement Demand:  The worst case scenario, car parking demand 

during religious events is estimated to be 550 spaces + 

admin and maintenance staff.   

Planning application Spaces:  656 spaces proposed 

Design and Access Statement Spaces:  665 spaces in main parking area and 

throughout the internal road network. 

Planning Statement Spaces:  663 spaces 

Submitted Master Site Plan  Spaces: 752 spaces shown.   

 

There appears to be a significant difference between the forecast demand for car-parking 

spaces and those shown on the submitted plans.   

 

Page 42



39 
 

In their consultation response, the Highways Authority acknowledge that there is an over-

provision of car parking spaces but in doing so recognise the potential for large numbers of 

worshippers to attend the site.  The Highway Authority have advised on the types of car-

parking spaces, also suggesting that coach parking should be provided.  Drainage for the 

car-parking areas should be to a separate system.   

 

Given the scale of the proposed car parking arrangements, the Highways Authority have 

also advised on the need for car-parking management plan.  This could be controlled using a 

planning condition once these details have been agreed with the Highway Authority.   

 

The site is crossed by two public rights of way.  Lancashire County Council has raised 

concerns about the applicants proposal to restrict access to one of these rights of way 

outside daylight hours.  Footpath diversions are normally managed under separate 

legislation by Lancashire County Council.   

 

Insufficient information has been submitted to adequately assess the highways impacts of 

the development including the number of car-parking spaces required, the design of 

junctions and the wider impact on the surrounding road network, contrary to Policy Env 7 of 

the Core Strategy, Policy DM32 of the Development Management DPD and National 

Planning Policy Framework.    

 

v. Flooding, Drainage and Groundwater Contamination;   

 

Policy DM20 of the Hyndburn Development Management DPD and the provisions of the 

NPPF relate to reducing the risk of flooding with developments.  The applicant has submitted 

a Groundwater and Drainage Statement with the application.  The site lies in Flood Zone 1, 

meaning that there is a low probability of flooding from fluvial or tidal sources.  In terms of 

surface water drainage, the ground investigation report found that the soils were of low 

permeability meaning that soakaways would not be effective.  It would therefore be 

necessary to drain hard-standings and roofs to designated attenuation/detention ponds 

across the site.  The submitted statement states that any excess flow from these would 

discharge into existing sewers on Blackburn Road.   

 

The Lead local flood authority have been consulted, however at the time of writing this report 

no comments have been received. Should they respond prior to planning committee their 

comments will be reported in the update sheet.  

 

Ground Water Contamination 

 

The issue of potential contamination of ground waters by the presence of a large burial site 

has been raised in representations received.   

 

The National Planning Policy Framework11 seeks to ensure that new development should 

enhance the natural environment by, inter alia, preventing new and existing development 

                                                           
11

 NPPF, para 174 e).   

Page 43



40 
 

from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, 

unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability, aims supported by 

Policy DM25 of the Development Management DPD and Policy Env7 of the Core Strategy.   

 

NPPF also states that planning decisions should ensure that “a site is suitable for its 

proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land instability 

and contamination….”12.  It further advises at paragraph 185 that planning decisions should 

also ensure that new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely 

effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 

environment…”.   

 

The applicant has submitted a ‘Combined Preliminary Risk Assessment’ for the site.  This 

report concludes that the potential contamination sources are considered to be localised, 

associated with the former tip on the site.  Limited water has been identified on the site and 

is considered seasonal according to soil scape, with impeded drainage, which combined with 

low permeable cohesive soils is considered perched in limited locations. Based on the 

information contained in the report and with due regard to the current and future cemetery 

use, it is the opinion of the authors of this report that the site represents a Low to Medium 

risk with respect to groundwater liability issues.  Therefore they state that the findings of this 

report should not prevent successful change in proposed use of the site. 

 

Notwithstanding this, the Environment Agency has objected to the development on the 

grounds that the development could pose an unacceptable risk of pollution of groundwater 

and they consider it is questionable whether it would be able to meet the minimum 

requirements.  They recommend that planning permission should be refused in line with para 

174 of the NPPF.  

 

The Environment Agency highlight that groundwater is particularly sensitive in this location 

because the proposed development site is located upon a secondary aquifer A.  Therefore, 

to ensure development is sustainable, the applicant must provide adequate information to 

demonstrate that the risks posed by the development to groundwater can be satisfactory 

managed.  In this instance the applicant has failed to provide this information and they 

consider that the proposed development may pose an unacceptable risk of causing a 

detrimental impact to ground water quality for the following reasons: 

 

1. The proposal is projected for over 100 burials per year which is regarded as high risk 

in accordance with position statement L3 of ‘The Environment Agency’s approach to 

groundwater protection. Such proposals will only be agreed by the Environment 

Agency where a developer can demonstrate through detailed risk assessment, that 

given the site specific setting and the engineering methods proposed, groundwater 

pollution will be avoided.  

2. The current site investigation is from the existing ground topography. Any subsurface 

investigation needs to be beneath the proposed ground topography and grave depth. 

It is not therefore clear that the proposal will meet minimum requirements 3 and 4. 

                                                           
12

 NPPF, para 183 a) extract.   

Page 44



41 
 

3. The curt and fill proceedure is apparently cutting into bedrock along the southern 

portions of the burial ground. There are no mapped superficial deposits here and 

more than 10m of cut appears to be proposed. It is therefore not clear that the 

proposal will meet minimum requirement 5. 

4. There is an existing watercourse running through the site. It is not explained how this 

feature is to be managed with respect to the development or how a non-burial buffer 

will be provided as per minimum requirement 1. 

5. There is evidence of a spring being present at around NGR SD 726 283. It is not 

explained how this feature is to be managed with respect to the development or how 

a non- burial buffer will be provided as per minimum requirement 1. 

 

On the basis of the observations made by the Environment Agency, the applicant has not 

satisfactorily demonstrated that the proposed development will not give rise to pollution, 

contrary to Policy Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy, Policy 25 of the Development 

Management DPD and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

Another matters to be considered in relation to the site is air pollution. The Council’s 

Environmental Health Officer has highlighted that due to the number of vehicles visiting the 

site, air pollution could be an issue. The site is noted to serve the whole of the North West 

with vehicles coming from over an hours drive away- at a busy funeral this could generate 

quite a lot of traffic  with funeral expected to attract an average of 100- 150 people, and busy 

ones to attract 400 plus.  The site is already adjacent to the busy M65. 

 

As such she has requested that further information is submitted in relation to this so that the 

matters can be considered adequately.  No further information has been submitted.  

 

On discussion of this matter with the agent, she highlighted that as this is a site which is 

likely to generate car trips, it should be considered that the future plans for cars in the UK is 

to move towards carbon neutral electric vehicles, which will not generate air pollution. 

 

Officers are required to work within the current planning policy and an electric car future for 

the UK has not been addressed at this stage by Central Government. Nothing is guaranteed 

and other pollution from electric vehicles will need to be considered as and when it is.  

 

Notwithstanding the observations that have been made on air quality, it is not considered 

that this represents a reason for refusal of this application.   

 

vi. Heritage; 

 

Policy DM22 of the Development Management DPD supports development proposals where 

they seek to minimise the harm to the significance of heritage assets and their setting, whilst 

Policy Env6 of the Core Strategy expects new development to “enhance the setting of 

historic structures and areas” and “retain historical associations where possible”. In a 

manner consistent with national policy, Policy DM22 (3) states that any harm to the 

significance of a listed building and its setting will only be justified where the public benefits 

Page 45



42 
 

of the proposal clearly outweigh the harm.  The policy also requires any such proposals to 

be accompanied by a heritage statement.  

  

There is a general duty placed on the Council under section 66 of the ‘Listed Buildings Act’ 

in the exercise of planning functions.  In considering whether to grant planning permission 

for a development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority 

shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 

feature of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. On this matter, Historic 

England states:  

 

"The Court of Appeal decision in the case of Barnwell vs East Northamptonshire DC 2014 

made it clear that in enacting section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 Parliament’s intention was that ‘decision makers should give 

“considerable importance and weight” to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed 

buildings when carrying out the balancing exercise'.  

 

Decision-making policies in the NPPF and in the local development plan are also to be 

applied, but they cannot directly conflict with or avoid the obligatory consideration in these 

statutory provisions. 

 

Policy DM34: Development in the Green Belt and Countryside Area of the Development 

Management DPD  states that all proposals involving the development of new buildings in 

the Green Belt must be capable of being developed without adversely affecting the character 

of the rural landscape.  The design of any buildings must be sensitive to the local area and 

must respect the rural setting in terms of the materials used, their detailing and overall 

appearance.  A more traditional approach will be favoured and any scheme should not have 

an urbanising impact on the site and surrounding area. 

 

This is similar to the NPPF, paragraph 130, which states that decisions should ensure that 

developments are visually attractive and are sympathetic to local character and history, 

including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting.  Paragraph 148 states 

that when considering any planning application, local planning authorities should 

ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt.  

 

Paragraph 5.24 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy states that local character and identity will be 

supported by protecting, strengthening and enhancing the pre-industrial settlement at 

Stanhill. (Core Strategy page 74).  

 

There is no assessment of the historical landscape made within the Planning Statement 

submitted.  The Council’s Conservation Officer has considered the proposal and has 

provided an initial assessment which identifies that the historical landscape is wider than the 

actual development site and is defined by Cow Hill to the north and Stand Hill to the south 

while modern developments to the east and west restrict its latitudinal extent.  It comprises a 

saddle-shaped landform with a relatively undisturbed historical landscape with a number of 

old farmsteads on the higher slopes of the two hills. Historic fields, many with medieval ridge 

and furrow, run down the slopes to the A679 and Wolfenden Syke.  Visually, the landscape 

Page 46



43 
 

forms a single entity with a similar character throughout.  Old farms cluster near the top of 

both hills.  Three farms on Cow Hill are tightly packed to form Cowhill Fold while three on 

Stand Hill are more spaced out. Running from east to west are Stanhill Hall, Higher Stanhill 

and Knuzden Hall. 

 

There are listed buildings which lie within close proximity of the site; Knuzden Hall, Knuzden 

Hall Farmhouse and Stanhill Hall, all of which are Grade II listed.  Stanhill Conservation Area 

is also to the south-east of the site. To the north on Cow Hill  lies Parker’s Farmhouse (listed 

Grade II*), Rose Cottage (listed Grade II) and Cowhill Farm (curtilage listed).   

 

The applicant has submitted a Heritage Impact Assessment as part of the Planning 

Statement. The Heritage Impact Assessment concludes that “less than substantial harm 

would occur to the setting of these assets and as such, as per the requirements of 

paragraph 202 of the NPPF, the local planning authority must weigh this harm against the 

public benefits of the proposal.  The Assessment goes on to state that “In this instance, the 

public benefits are significant and far ranging, the cemetery will meet the needs of the 

Muslim community within the North West for the next 50-100 years, through providing much 

needed grave space that are in very short supply…..To summarise, whilst some degree of 

harm would exist to Knuzden Hall Farmhouse and Knuzden Hall, the harm is considered to 

be on the lower range, and it is ultimately outweighed by the major public benefits, both 

socially and culturally, the proposal stands to offer. It is therefore considered heritage should 

not be a barrier to approval.” 

  

The Conservation Officer highlights that the impact of the proposed development on the 

historic landscape would be substantial owing to: 

1. The very large size of the development site, running the whole length of the 

Green belt and taking in most of the lower fields of Stand Hill; 

2. The loss of the unified historic character of the saddle landscape; 

3. The harm to the setting of the listed buildings of Knuzden Hall Farmhouse, 

Knuzden Hall, Stanhill Hall and Cowhill Fold;  

4. The excavation cut and fill techniques reshaping the landscape; 

5. The loss of all historic character and features on the site; and 

6. The grid layout of roads and plots being contrary to the existing countryside 

character. 

 

The applicant believes that “less than substantial harm” would occur to the setting of the 

Grade II Listed Knuzden Hall Farm and Knuzden Hall Farmhouse, but considers that this 

harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal, i.e. a cemetery that will meet the 

needs of the Muslim community in the North West for the next 50-100 years.  The Council 

does not accept that a case demonstrating need for the cemetery has been made and do not 

therefore accept that the public benefits arising from the proposed development outweigh 

the harm to the setting of the Listed Buildings.   

 

Officers accept that the degree of harm arising from the development to the setting of 

Stanhill Hall is less than substantial, but the proposed development can be seen from the 

Hall.  The degree of harm to the setting of Knuzden Hall and Knuzden Hall Farmhouse, 

Page 47



44 
 

however, is judged to be substantial owing to the development coming right up to the 

boundary of the listed buildings and by the development of the traditional fields of the historic 

farmstead, affecting views towards and outwards of the listed buildings.  The harm to the 

setting of the Cow Hill Fold listed buildings concerns the distant views to and from the group 

across the landscape.  It is judged to be less than substantial.  

 

Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 

designated heritage asset (including from development within its setting), should require 

clear and convincing justification.  Substantial harm to grade II listed buildings should be 

exceptional. Paragraph 201 states that where a proposed development will lead to 

substantial harm, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be 

demonstrated that the substantial harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits 

that outweigh that harm. 

 

The Council’s Conservation Officer is particularly concerned about the impact of the 

development on the historic landscape, advising that the development of a cemetery of the 

nature and size proposed would transform the present countryside character, introducing a 

major new landscape feature designed to a grid that is visually at odds with the historic 

landscape. The present visual unity of the Green Belt countryside would be lost and the 

cemetery would separate the fields of Cow Hill from the surviving fields of Stand Hill. 

 

The cut and fill of the proposed development would destroy any archaeological or other 

heritage assets which lie within the boundary of the site. The scheme would divert the two 

historic tracks, which are public footpaths, and harm the rural setting of designated and non-

designated heritage assets.   

 

Lancashire County Council Archaeology have also been consulted, however at the time of 

writing the report their comments had not been received. Should they be received before 

planning committee they will be reported in the update sheet. 

 

As such it is considered that the proposed development is contrary to the relevant local and 

national planning policies in regard to the historic rural landscape, a number of undesignated 

heritage assets and the setting of the designated listed buildings.  

 

vii. Amenity;   

 

A number of representations have been made raising concerns about the impact of the 

development on local residential amenity.  The policies of the development plan, in particular 

Policy Env7 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM29 of the Development Management DPD, 

seek to ensure that development protects the amenity of residents.   

 

The eastern side of the site is bounded by residential properties, with the edge of the 

settlement Oswaldtwistle being directly adjacent to the site.  There have been many 

objections received to the development in relation to the impact on residential amenity which 

are detailed within the consultations section of the report. 

 

Page 48



45 
 

Policy Env7 relates specifically to this in terms of noise, dust, emissions, over-looking or loss 

of light and as such members need to be satisfied that the development would not have a 

significantly detrimental impact on the amenity of these immediate neighbours as a result of 

the development.   

 

Objections have been raised specifically in relation to the impact that he development would 

have on the privacy of neighbouring gardens. Being in close proximity to a burial site may 

impeded residents form using their gardens as they feel there would be a requirement to be 

quiet and respectful during burial times.  Although it is acknowledged that there may be 

some impact in relation to a residents respectful use of their garden during these times, it is 

unlikely that this would be a frequent occurrence due to the size of the site and also the fact 

that three could be a condition included which would provide a landscaping buffer between 

the site and the residential properties.  Note that this buffer would need to be adequate 

designed to ensure that here would not be a loss of light to these gardens as they are often 

south facing.  

 

Noise impacts during the construction period could also be mitigated with the use of hours of 

operation and construction, ensuring that this is not permitted to be undertaken in the 

evenings or on Sundays for example.  The proposed development will involve significant 

earthworks which, during dry periods of weather, could give rise to dust being blown from the 

site into nearby properties.  This would require a more detailed scheme and programme of 

dust management to be submitted and agreed prior to development commencing, should 

planning permission be granted.   

 

Concerns were also raised in relation to the noise which could be generated from the site, 

with specific mention of ‘wailing’ at the graveside.  However although it is accepted there 

could be some noise if someone is grieving at the graveside during burial, this would not be 

sustained and would not be likely to be at a level which is unacceptable for a long period of 

time.  As such it is not considered that this would be a suitable reason to refuse the planning 

application.  

 

Although a landscaping plan has been submitted it is unclear from the plan where woodland 

planting would take place.  The location of this planting would need to be determined to 

ensure that woodland is not planted in close proximity to residential properties, potentially 

resulting in over-shadowing of gardens or resulting in an unacceptable sense of enclosure.   

 

viii. Summary and conclusion 

 

This is a major planning application for an extensive development in the rural area between 

the built up area of Accrington and Blackburn.  Although National Policy accepts that the 

development of cemeteries and associated buildings and infrastructure could be appropriate 

in the Green Belt, the proposed development has been designed with little regard to sites 

location in Green Belt and the landscape in which it is sited.  The development of an 

extensive network of roads, paths, car-parking and re-grading of the site will result in a loss 

of openness of the Green Belt and harm the landscape character of this area.  The proposed 

Page 49



46 
 

development would also harm the setting of nearby listed buildings and heritage assets 

within the historic landscape.   

 

Insufficient information has been submitted by the applicant on a number of areas to 

demonstrate that the development is acceptable.  The Environment Agency has objected to 

the proposed development over concerns about ground water pollution and the Highways 

Authority has raised a number of concerns that require further information for these matters 

to be properly addressed.  The applicant has also failed to undertake relevant surveys of 

protected species or demonstrated biodiversity net gain.   

 

For these reasons, which are set out in more detail in the body of this report, it is not 

considered that the proposed development can be supported.   

 

Recommendation 

 

That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reasons: 

 

1. By virtue of its scale and design and through the introduction of extensive urban 

elements (including but not limited to roads, paths, car-parking, lighting, buildings, 

formal landscaping, engineering operations and changes in level) into this open rural 

landscape, the proposed development would permanently harm the openness of the 

Green Belt and would conflict with the purposes of including land within the Green 

Belt, contrary to Policy BD1 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy, Policy DM34 of the 

Development Management DPD and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

2. By virtue of its scale and design and through the introduction of extensive urban 

elements (including but not limited to roads, paths, car-parking, lighting, buildings, 

formal landscaping, engineering operations and changes in level) into this open rural 

and historic landscape, the proposed development would have an unacceptable 

adverse impact on the rural character of the landscape contrary to Policies Env3 and 

Env 6 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy, Policy DM34 of the Development Management 

DPD and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

3. By virtue of its scale and design and through the introduction of extensive urban 

elements (including but not limited to roads, paths, car-parking, lighting, buildings, 

formal landscaping, engineering operations and changes in level) into this open rural 

landscape, the proposed development would cause substantial harm to the setting of 

the Grade II Listed Buildings Knuzden Hall, Knuzden Hall Farmhouse and, less than 

substantial harm to the setting of the Grade II Listed Buildings, Stanhill Hall and Rose 

Cottage.  The harm arising to those heritage assets is not outweighed by the public 

benefits arising from the development, contrary to Policies BD1 and Env6 of the 

Hyndburn Core Strategy, Policies DM22 and DM26 of the Development Management 

DPD and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

Page 50



47 
 

4. Insufficient information has been submitted to adequately assess the risk of pollution 

of groundwater contrary to Policy Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy, Policy 25 of 

the Development Management DPD and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

5. The proposed development has not taken into consideration the potential presence of 

protected species (Great Crested Newt, Bats and Water Vole) in and around the site 

and has not demonstrated that the development will deliver Biodiversity Net Gain, 

contrary to Policy Env3 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy, Policy DM19 of the 

Development Management DPD and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

6. Insufficient information has been submitted to adequately assess the highways and 

associated impacts of the development including the number of car-parking spaces 

required, the design of site junctions and the wider impact on the surrounding road 

network, contrary to Policy Env 7 of the Core Strategy, Policy DM32 of the 

Development Management DPD and National Planning Policy Framework.    

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Hyndburn Borough Council – Committee Report 

 

Application Ref:  11/21/0584 

 

Application Address:   7 Hazel Grove Oswaldtwistle BB1 3NB 

 

Valid Date:   5th October 2021 

 

Date Registered:   25th October 2021 

 

Date for Decision:  30th November 2021 (EOT will need to be requested) 

 

Date of Site Visit:  26th November 2021 

 

Date of Report:  9th December 2021 

 

Description of Development: HH: Extension to existing raised platform to rear of dwelling 

and associated boundary treatment 

 

 

HUMAN RIGHTS 

The relevant provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the European Convention on 

Human Rights have been taken into account in preparation of this report, particularly the 

implications arising from the following rights:- 

Article 8 

The right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence. 

Article 1 of Protocol 1 

The right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property. 

 

Description of site and proposed development 

 

The application relates to a two storey semi-detached house in a row of semi-detached 

houses (of varying styles) fronting the north side of Hazel Gove. The backs of the houses 

face generally northwards so that the dwellings have rear gardens in a typical back-to-back 

arrangement with similar dwellings in Brantwood Avenue that runs roughly parallel to Hazel 

Grove. 

 

There is a general topographical slope downwards to the north so that the Brantwood 

Avenue properties generally stand on ground around 2m lower than the Hazel Grove 

properties. The application site is attached to No. 9 Hazel Grove, is adjacent to No.5 Hazel 

Grove and faces towards (and has a partial rear boundary with) Nos. 10 and 12 Brantwood 

Avenue. 

 

Apparently the application dwelling had a single storey rear kitchen projecting around 2.5m 

from the main rear wall of the house. The applicant sought to implement larger extension 

Page 53



‘permitted development’ rights for which Prior Approval was granted on 18th May 2021.  That 

development is under construction and has been built up to damp-proof course level. 

 

The downward fall in levels from the front to back of the application site is of the order of 

around one metre. There is a pathway running from the street, along the side of the house to 

the rear garden, where it widens to form an existing patio/terrace across the rear of the 

dwelling. Whilst there is a gradual fall along the pathway alongside the house, there is an 

abrupt difference in levels of around 0.65m from the patio/terrace down to the lower garden 

area. The edge of the terrace is 4.7m from the rear fence for a 3 metre width: the remaining 

5.2m width is set back by 2.2m (that is: 6.9m from the rear fence).  

 

The present proposal is to extend the small inset part of the terrace to line with the 

remainder of the terrace – so that the edge of the terrace runs straight, across the full width 

of the rear garden. This would add an area of a little over 10sq.m. to the patio/terrace. The 

edge of the resultant terrace would be 4.7m from the rear fence. 

 

The application includes: existing and proposed plans of the garden layout; sections to show 

changes in levels and the position of proposed screen fencing. An image of the proposed 

fence type is included in the application. The property is illustrated in the images below: 

    

 

        
  Rear garden    proposed additional terrace area 

    

          

  View towards No.9   View towards Brantwood Avenue 

 

 

Page 54



        

 View towards No.5 rear garden   No.5 rear garden 

Consultation responses (summarised) 

Site notices displayed. Neighbours notified by letter. Consultation period expired 23rd 

November   2021. 

Two representations have been received making objections and comments. These are 

summarised and itemised as follows [with comments in italic script]: 

 

1.  Inappropriate materials already used for raising land. Include, asbestos from the 

shed along with roofing tiles and building bricks. Contaminated land with broken up 

pieces of asbestos. Not followed advice of Environmental Health Officer in May 2021.  

 

Comment – The development proposed by this application has not been carried out. 

Apparently a shed has recently been demolished and the debris may be un-cleared 

demolition rubble. The relevant advice given by the Environmental Health Officer(s) 

should be drawn to the attention of the applicant in a decision notice informative. 

 

2.  Concern about ground heave associated with clay soils and that settlement of the 

raised land will move vertically and horizontally, causing damage to property.  

 

Comment – The liability as regards property damage is a private matter between 

property owners and not a planning consideration.   

 

3. Insufficient drainage; concern about run-off of surface water. Concern about flood 

problems in the area. Concern that inadequate drainage would be provided 

contributing to flooding in the area.  

 

Comment – The application proposes the raising of around 10 sq.m of garden area 

under a hard surface; the remainder of the garden would remain available for the 

absorption of rainwater. It is unlikely that an alteration to the garden of the scale now 

proposed would add significantly to any identified existing flood problem.  The matter 

is considered in the Observations part of the report.  A condition is recommended to 

require sustainable drainage] 

 

4. The lack of privacy and overlooking issues is a major concern; raised land to such 

a very high level which means he has direct view into all our gardens and private 

spaces.  

Page 55



 

Comment – This is a planning consideration and it will be considered in the 

Observations section of the report, below.   

 

5. Overall Very poor workmanship. 6. Building over a gas pipe.  

 

Comment – Points 5 and 6 possibly relate to partly finished work on the previously 

approved extension. These were not planning considerations for this application.   

 

7. Inappropriate height of fencing and overall design of it. If raising land this 

automatically raises the height of the fence which would be another 2metres on top 

of the raised land.  Which is out of character with the rest of the neighbouring 

properties. The new fencing could over-shadow property.  

 

Comment – This is a planning consideration and it will be considered in the 

Observations section of the report, below.   

 

8. Measurements of raised land not as plans submitted. Raised land is much further 

forward than plans state.   

 

Comment – The development has not been carried out; inspection of the site 

indicates that the site is as shown in the application.   

 

9. Comments about ownership of boundary fence and position of fence.  

 

10. Neighbours lack of notice for working on boundary. 

 

Comment – 9 and 10 are private matters relating to property ownership and not a 

matter for consideration in relation to this planning application.  

 

11. Comments about the Council’s safeguarding policy in relation to planning 

objections.  

 

Comment – This is not a matter for consideration in relation to this planning 

application] 

 

12.13.14. Comments about building methods.   

 

Comment – These are not planning considerations] 

 

15. Rights under the Human Rights Act article 8 referred to including- enjoyment of 

property and garden and to be able to live in peace.  

 

Comment – The Rights apply equally to all. The proper exercise of planning 

legislation seeks to protect such Rights.   

 

Page 56



16. Overdeveloped area of land and property. Out of character with neighbouring 

properties which will have a detrimental effect on our property selling price.  

 

Comment – This is a planning consideration and it will be considered in the 

Observations section of the report, below; however, property values, as such, are not 

a planning consideration.  

 

17. Work has already been started; Trees and Hedges cut down; not sought pre-

application advice.  

 

Comment – Planning approval has been granted for an extension to the property 

which is currently under construction. The loss of garden vegetation does not 

comprise development and does not therefore represent a breach of planning 

control.    

 

18. The scale is incorrect as the measurement of 4700 metres is inaccurate.  

 

Comment – This is not apparent from the drawings and inspection of the site.   

 

19.  Service gas pipe has been built over.  

 

Comment – This was referred to above.  

 

20. Reference to the Environmental Health advice relating to precautions against 

landfill gas, and during site preparation and construction phase to control of 

noise/dust/fumes/vibration and in respect of removal of any asbestos material 

from the demolition of buildings should be handled appropriately.   

 

Comment – These matters should be drawn to the attention of the applicant.   

 

 

Highway Authority –The proposal raises no highway concerns. No objections. 

 

Environmental Health Officer(s) – The following comments are made: 

 

1. If an extension/building is to be built 

The proposed development is within the 250m consultation zone of a landfill site.  

Therefore a well-constructed ground slab and a gas proof membrane of 1200g 

thickness must be incorporated into the foundations, which should provide adequate 

protection against the ingress of any landfill gas.  The membrane should be: 

1. laid carefully so as to avoid tears or perforations 

2. well capped and taped at the joints, and 

3. continuous across the whole area of the new development. 

 

Comment – This is not relevant to the application as no building is proposed.   

 

Page 57



2. Site preparation and construction phase control of 

noise/dust/fumes/vibration: 

 

Measures shall be in place to prevent nuisance being caused to residents from 

smoke and fumes arising from the building works prior to the commencement of 

development works, and shall be retained for the duration of the development. There 

shall be no burning on site of construction waste.  

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity in accordance with the provisions of 

Core Strategy Policy Env7 and Development Management Development Plan 

Document Policy DM29. 

 

Comment – This is relevant to the application because of the close-knit nature of the 

neighbouring dwellings. A condition is recommended.   

 

3. Any asbestos material from the demolition of buildings should be handled 

appropriately following any associated guidance from the Health and Safety 

Executive. Such waste must be taken off site to a hazardous waste centre, 

asbestos should not be used to increase the level of the site.  

Disposal should be as follows: 

Before taking asbestos to a recycling centre you need to make sure it is wrapped 

properly: 

 It must be wrapped in heavy duty polythene sheets 

 Smaller pieces of asbestos should be double-bagged and securely sealed 

Recycling centres provide asbestos wrapping materials free of charge (in limited 

quantities) for householders. You will need to collect them from the recycling centre. 

For more information about the safe handling and disposal of asbestos please visit 

the HSE Website. 

For information on local hazardous waste sites please see the following link: 

https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/disposal-of-hazardous-waste-and-

asbestos. 

 

Comment – This should be attached to a decision as there is information that 

asbestos may be present on the site. An informative note should be attached.   

 

AND: 

 

Site preparation and construction phase times of operation: 

Construction deliveries to and from the site, and construction works, are restricted to 

between 0800 and 1800hrs Monday to Friday, 0900 to 1300hrs on Saturdays, and 

will not take place on Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise prior agreed in 

writing with the local planning authority. All works will be undertaken in accordance 

with BS5228:2009. 

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity in accordance with the provisions of 

Core Strategy Policy Env7 and Development Management Development Plan 

Document Policy DM29. 

Page 58

http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/essentials/
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/disposal-of-hazardous-waste-and-asbestos
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/disposal-of-hazardous-waste-and-asbestos


Comment – This is relevant to the application as the proposed development involves 

the demolition of an outbuilding and consequent removal of material, and, because of 

the close-knit nature of the neighbouring dwellings. A condition is recommended.  

 

 

Relevant Policies 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 

Core Strategy – Adopted January 2012 

Env6: High Quality Design 

Env7: Environmental Amenity 

 

Development Management DPD 

DM20:Flood Risk Management and Water Resources 

DM26: Design Quality and Materials. 

DM29: Environmental Amenity 

 

Householder Design Guide SPD – Adopted September 2009 

Design Guidance 14 (DG)  

 

 

Planning history 

 

11/21/0166: HHPA: Erection of rear extension 4m beyond the rear wall of the original 

dwelling house 3.20m maximum height 2.90m height to eaves – Prior Approval granted 18th 

May 2021 

 

Observations and assessment 

 

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance 

with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a 

material consideration (NPPF paragraph 2). 

 

NPPF defines sustainable development (paragraph 8), sets a presumption in favour of such 

development, requiring that: proposals in accordance with an up-to-date development plan 

be approved without delay (paragraph 11); and, that decisions should be approached in a 

positive and constructive way (paragraph 38). 

 

Issues 

 

Planning permission is needed because the proposed terrace would be raised more than 

0.3m above the existing garden surface. The planning issues are the impact on the 

amenity/living conditions of neighbours, in particular privacy and over-shadowing; and any 

other impact resulting from the design of the proposed development, in this case: drainage 

and fence design; and, whether the proposal is over-development. 

Page 59



 

Privacy 

 

Env7 and DM29, taken together, require that development protects the amenity of 

neighbouring residents, including safeguarding privacy and avoiding increased enclosure.  

 

DG14 gives the guidance that terraces can be problematic and in many cases unacceptable. 

In most suburban areas they will lead to an unacceptable level of overlooking of 

neighbouring properties. Applicants should explore “screening” possibilities. 

 

An existing patio/terrace is proposed to be extended.  The existing patio/terrace is 8.7m wide 

with the nearest point of its edge 4.7m from the rear fence. The proposal is to extend it by 

2.2m over a width of 5.2m. so that the whole of its edge would be 4.7m from the rear fence.  

It would be 0.65m above the existing garden surface - the same level as the existing.   

 

 
 

The proposed patio/terrace is hatched in red (labelled 4) in the diagram above and would be 

at the ground floor level of the house/garden.  It should be distinguished from a first floor 

balcony or roof terrace which can, in many cases, be capable of causing loss of privacy from 

over-looking.  In this case it would form part of the general configuration of the sloping rear 

garden that is being brought-to-levels. 

Page 60



 

The proposed patio/terrace would afford little (if any) increased visibility of gardens to the 

rear (property on Brantwood Avenue). There is already a degree of inter-visibility between 

the gardens of houses at either side; that would be increased, but not in a significant way 

that might indicate amendment of the scheme or refusal of the application.  A privacy screen 

fence 1.8m high would be provided along the flank of the patio/terrace which would avoid 

direct over-looking towards the attached house.  A condition is recommended to put that into 

effect.  

 

The neighbouring dwellings have rear gardens around 10m in length. Most gardens are 

fenced – and all householders have ‘permitted development’ rights to erect fencing up to 2m 

in height around gardens or, indeed, within gardens so as to provide for addition privacy, 

shade or shelter. Additionally, suitable hedge or screen planting, such as a bushy evergreen, 

can provide additional screening where a resident has privacy concerns. Given the existing 

relationship of the houses following from the sloping land form it is inevitable that there is 

some inter-visibility of private residential spaces.  The present proposal would not add to that 

inter-visibility in any harmful way.  

 

On this basis, the proposed development is not considered to have an unacceptable impact 

on residential privacy and would be in accordance with the relevant policies in that respect. 

 

Over-shadowing 

 

The application proposes that the area is raised by 0.65m, together with the existing raised 

area, would have a 1.8m high screen fence for a length of 4m along the boundary with the 

attached house. This would be a height of 2.45m above original ground level. The additional 

0.45m height would not cause any degree of significant harm to the amenities of the 

neighbouring dwelling.  

 

It is not unusual the structures up to a height of 2.5m are erected close to garden 

boundaries. It needs be noted that under ‘permitted development’ rights a householder can 

erect a garden building or fenced enclosure up to 2.5m high, which allows buildings to be set 

closely against although not actually forming the boundary.  Significant over-shadowing or 

over-dominance by structures and fences of that height is unlikely. 

 

On this basis, the proposed development is not considered to have an unacceptable over-

shadowing impact on any neighbouring dwelling and would be in accordance with the 

relevant policies in that respect.   

 

Drainage 

 

Env6 requires high quality design; and DM26 (as relevant to this proposal) requires design 

to consider sustainable construction principles and design. DM20 seeks sustainable 

drainage. 

 

Page 61



The general principle in policies guiding planning decisions (and already embodied in 

permitted development rights for driveways, paths etc) is that permeable surface material 

should be use in order that rain-water can soak away naturally rather than contributing to a 

surge of drain-water in heavy rain conditions.  It makes a small but necessary contribution to 

avoiding flooding down-stream of the point of development. 

 

Therefore, whilst the scale of the present proposal is unlikely to contribute in any measurable 

way to down-stream flooding, a condition is recommended to require appropriate treatment 

in respect of surface water disposal. 

 

The proposal would, on that basis, be in accordance with the relevant policies in respect of 

sustainable drainage. 

 

Fence design 

 

The application details show a robust vertical timber boarded fence of a type erected by 

many householders. It would be in accordance with the relevant policies. 

 

Possible over-development affecting character of area 

 

The application proposes an area of paving just over 2m x 5m within an existing 10m long 

rear garden. The development arises from the sloping nature of the garden and the 

consequent need to provide level areas in which to enjoy it. It would not amount to over 

development nor would it harm the character of the area.   

 

Representations 

 

Direct comments on the representations of neighbouring householders are made above.  

The representations are understandable and have highlighted the need for imposition of 

conditions and directing meaningful information to the applicant. 

 

Consideration of the proposed development in relation to the representations and concerns 

expressed therein concludes that the development would not be unacceptable and would be 

in accordance with the relevant planning policies. 

 

Other matters. 

 

It is noted that the property is in an area identified by the Coal Authority as of low risk.  

 

It is also identified as a Landfill Gas Site.  

 

The matters should be attached as Informatives to the applicant. 

 

Conclusions 

 

Page 62



Planning is about the relationship of development – in this case gardens and houses – and 

the decision must be made against the policies of the development plan and other material 

considerations.   

 

Given the existing relationship of the houses following from the sloping land form it is 

inevitable that there is some inter-visibility of private residential spaces.  The present 

proposal would not add to that inter-visibility in any harmful way and the recommendation is 

made on that basis.  

 

The proposal, subject to the conditions recommended, would be in accordance with the 

development plan and there are no material considerations or harm arising from the 

proposed development that weigh sufficiently against the proposal to justify refusing 

planning permission.  

 

Recommendation 

 

That the application be Granted subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The development hereby approved shall be commenced before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains the right to review 

unimplemented permissions and to comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following documents: 

(a) The planning application forms and location plan received by Hyndburn 

Borough Council on 5th October 2021. 

(b) Submitted drawings, namely: Drawing(s) number: 

(c) 01/01a (showing existing and proposed plans and sections and section of 

proposed boundary treatment); and, Image of proposed style of timber fence, 

received by Hyndburn Borough Council on 5th October 2021. 

 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to enable Hyndburn Borough Council to 

control the development and to minimise its impact in accordance with policies Env6 

and Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy, DM26 and DM29 of the Hyndburn 

Development Management Development Plan Document and the Householder 

Design Guide SPD of Hyndburn Borough Council. 

 

3. At all times during construction of the development measures shall be in place to 

prevent nuisance being caused to residents from dust, smoke and fumes arising from 

the building works. There shall be no burning on site of construction waste. 

 

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of nearby residents in accordance with policies 

Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy and DM29 of the Hyndburn Development 

Management Development Plan Document and in the interests of highway safety. 

Page 63



 

4. Construction deliveries to and from the site, and construction works, are restricted to 

between 0800 and 1800hrs Monday to Friday, 0900 to 1300hrs on Saturdays, and 

will not take place on Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise prior agreed in 

writing with the local planning authority. All works will be undertaken in accordance 

with BS5228:2009. 

 

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity in accordance with the provisions of 

Core Strategy Policy Env7 and Development Management Development Plan 

Document Policy DM29. 

 

5. Unless the hard surface comprised in the patio/terrace is constructed of rain-water-

permeable material, any surface water should be directed to a permeable area of the 

garden.  

 

Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made for sustainable drainage in 

accordance with Policies DM20 of the Development Management DPD of Hyndburn 

Borough Council. 

 

6. Before the extended area of raised patio/terrace is brought into use the proposed 

1.8m high screen fencing shall be erected along the eastern boundary of the site (as 

shown in the application) and so retained thereafter.  

 

Reason: To safeguard the privacy of neighbouring residents in accordance with 

policy DM29 of the Development Management DPD of Hyndburn Borough Council 

 

Informatives 

 

1. Reasons for approval of the application 

Subject to conditional control the proposal would not cause demonstrable harm to 

visual / residential amenity or highway safety or to any other matter of acknowledged 

importance and accordingly would suitably accord with local and national planning 

policies and in particular Policies Env 6 and Env 7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy. 

 

2. Strict accordance with approved plans 

This planning permission is granted in strict accordance with the approved plans.  It 

should be noted however that: 

(a) Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the 

development, irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute 

unauthorised development and may be liable to enforcement action. 

(b) You or your agent or any other person responsible for implementing this 

permission should inform Development Control immediately of any 

proposed variation from the approved plans and ask to be advised as to 

the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for variation to the 

approved plans will require the submission of a new planning application. 

 

Page 64



3. Conditions 

This consent is granted subject to conditions and it is the owner and the person 

responsible for the implementation of the development who will be fully responsible 

for their compliance throughout the development and beyond. 

 

4. Building Regulations may be required  

The enclosed approval is issued under the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.  You 

may also require Building Regulation approval which is dealt with by this 

Department's Building Control Section (Tel: 01254 380194).  You must ensure that 

all necessary permissions are obtained BEFORE starting work, otherwise abortive 

expense may be incurred. 

 

5. Coal AuthorityThe proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may 

contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards.  If any coal mining feature is 

encountered during development, this should be reported immediately to The Coal 

Authority on 0845 762 6848. Further information is also available on The Coal 

Authority website at www.coal.decc.gov.uk Property specific summary information on 

past, current and future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal 

Authority’s Property Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at www.groundstability.com 

Property specific summary information on past, current and future coal mining activity 

can be obtained from The Coal Authority’s Property Search Service on 0845 762 

6848 or at www.groundstability.com 

 

6. Landfill Gas 

The development falls within 250 metres of a landfill site. Please consult with the 

Council’s Environmental Health Section in order to obtain comments on landfill gas 

issues. 

 

7. Asbestos Safety 

Any asbestos material from the demolition of buildings should be handled 

appropriately following any associated guidance from the Health and Safety 

Executive. Such waste must be taken off site to a hazardous waste centre, asbestos 

should not be used to increase the level of the site.  

Disposal should be as follows: 

Before taking asbestos to a recycling centre you need to make sure it is wrapped 

properly: 

 It must be wrapped in heavy duty polythene sheets 

 Smaller pieces of asbestos should be double-bagged and securely sealed 

Recycling centres provide asbestos wrapping materials free of charge (in limited 

quantities) for householders. You will need to collect them from the recycling centre. 

For more information about the safe handling and disposal of asbestos please visit 

the HSE Website. 

For information on local hazardous waste sites please see the following link: 

https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/disposal-of-hazardous-waste-

and-asbestos.   

 

Page 65

http://www.coal.decc.gov.uk/
http://www.groundstability.com/
http://www.groundstability.com/
http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/essentials/
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/disposal-of-hazardous-waste-and-asbestos
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/disposal-of-hazardous-waste-and-asbestos


 

 

Page 66


	Agenda
	2. Minutes of the Last Meeting
	3. Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination
	Repport on Application 11/21/0584


